

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Strategies Employed by High School Social Workers to Help Young Mothers Remain in High School

Rosetta Stephens Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Work Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Rosetta Stephens

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Kenneth Larimore, Committee Chairperson, Social Work Faculty
Dr. Emmett Roberts, Committee Member, Social Work Faculty
Dr. Cynthia Davis, University Reviewer, Social Work Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Strategies Employed by High School Social Workers to Help Young Mothers Remain in High School

by

Rosetta Stephens

MSW, Monmouth University, 2014

BA, Kean University, 2005

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

November 2019

Abstract

The focus of this study was to explore the ways high school social workers employ 6 evidence-based strategies to foster academic persistence among young mothers currently enrolled in high school. High school social workers are often tasked with helping young mothers overcome the challenges associated with motherhood. It is necessary for social workers to assess students' personal situations and provide support and resources to assist. High school social workers are essential to addressing the problem of pregnancy among young mothers between the ages of 15 and 19 years old. The roles of high school social workers are essential to ensuring academic persistence among young mothers. A qualitative action research study design was employed to explore the research-based strategies employed by high school social workers in New Jersey to assist young mothers. Data was collected via focus groups. Results indicated school social workers personally fostered relationships with young mothers, and they also worked to nurture relationships between young mothers, teachers, and guidance counselors. Developing these relationships helped to create a support and accountability team for each young mother. Improving the assistance provided to young mothers can help ensure academic persistence, graduation, and ultimately foster better long-term social, economic, and health outcomes for young mothers and their children.

Strategies Employed by High School Social Workers to Help Young Mothers Remain in High School

by

Rosetta Stephens

MSW, Monmouth University, 2014

BA, Kean University, 2005

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

November 2019

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my cousin Kelvin, cousin Jamila, cousin Steven, aunt Vicki, uncle David, uncle Douglas, my father Roosevelt, stepfather John (Pops), and grandparents Esther and William. Although you were unable to live to see this day, you visited me in my dreams and were with me every step of the way. I know you are all smiling down on me.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge my husband, Stanley and my children, Aliyaah, Kizazi, Issaias, Kalonji, Shangwe, and Kazuri for their continued support and patience as I embarked on this rewarding journey. I would also like to acknowledge my chair, Dr. Larimore, and committee member, Dr. Roberts, for their positive feedback, guidance, and encouragement. I would like to thank my Aunt Kathy for all of her daily positive words and quotes. Additionally I would like to thank my beloved mother, Sharon, for always believing in me and providing me with daily encouragement and a lifetime of determination to succeed.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	V
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review	1
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement and Research Question	5
Key Terms	5
Contribution to Professional Social Work Practice	6
Nature of the Doctoral Project	7
Significance of the Study	8
Theoretical Framework	9
Values and Ethics	10
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Processes and Steps	11
Teen Pregnancy	11
Young Mothers and Dropout	13
High School Social Workers	14
Social Support Strategies for Young Mothers	15
Summary of Solutions Used to Assist Young Mothers to Remain in High	
School	23
Summary	25
Section 2: The Project	27

Research Design	27
Methodology	28
Prospective Data	28
Participants	28
Instrumentation	30
Data Analysis	30
Trustworthiness	32
Ethical Procedures	33
Summary	35
Section 3: Presentation of the Findings	37
Data Analysis Techniques	38
Sample Description	39
Findings	45
Childcare Assistance	45
Fostering Positive Educational Outcomes	47
Meeting Basic Needs	50
Providing Information, Support, and Resources	53
Fostering Positive Change	55

Home Visits	57
Summary	58
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social	
Change	61
Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice	63
Recommendations for Social Work Practice	65
Practical Recommendations	65
Application to the Researcher's Personal Practice	71
Application to Broader Policies	71
Limitations	72
Recommendations for Future Research	74
Recommendations for Dissemination of Findings	75
Implications for Social Change	76
Micro/Macro Levels	76
Practice	77
Research	78
Summary	78
References	81

Appendix A: Study Invitation Email	100
Appendix B: Demographic Questionnaire	102
Appendix C: Focus Group Protocol	103

List of Tables

Table 1. Frequency of Codes	4
Table 2. Themes and Corresponding Codes	4

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Young mothers between the ages of 15 and 19 years often struggle to continue their education after childbirth (Nissen, 2014). They often lack resources needed to continue schooling, which can prompt them to drop out of high school (SmithBattle, Loman, Chantamit-o-pas, & Schneider, 2017). Many young mothers are responsible for caring for their children with little financial and childcare assistance (SmithBattle & Freed, 2016), which impedes their abilities to remain in high school. Landau and Mason (2017) explained, "Teen mothers' beliefs about high school and the purpose of education are impacted by their pregnancy and by motherhood; for many new teen mothers, their priorities shift with the arrival of a new baby" (p. 23). Between these shifting priorities and barriers to staying in high school after giving birth, academic persistence is an issue for this population.

As conceptually defined for the proposed study, persistence refers to remaining in high school after giving birth despite barriers to doing so (Butler-Barnes, Varner, Williams, & Sellers, 2017). According to Nissen (2014), academic persistence among young mothers may be improved by providing them with resources needed to overcome common barriers associated with young motherhood. Lack of resources and social support ultimately contributes to the high dropout rate among young mothers (Boggs & Duncan, 2014; Murphy, 2016).

Despite decreases, the U.S. teen pregnancy rate remains nearly twice as high as

the rate in the United Kingdom, the country with the second highest rate of teen pregnancy in the world (Farber, 2016). Because of the large population of young mothers in the United States and their heavy reliance on social welfare, the issue of young motherhood is often considered a social problem. Becoming a young mother is also a social issue because motherhood places young girls at risk of poor health outcomes, educational underachievement, and long-term benefit dependency (Nissen, 2014). Akella and Jordan (2014) argued that becoming a young mother causes economic and social hardships, which are exacerbated by dropout and poor academic achievement. A young mother who drops out of high school is at a greater risk of poverty than one who remains in high school (Patchen, LeTourneau, & Berggren, 2013).

Young motherhood also carries the costs associated with negative social labels (Patchen et al., 2013), which can contribute to poor academic persistence (Pesta, 2018). The lack of social work interventions for young mothers ultimately encourages economic marginalization due to poor socialization and poverty, as well as educational hardships, lack of resources, and poor emotional support (Steinka-Fry, Wilson, & Tanner-Smith, 2013). According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2015), some of the costs associated with young motherhood include healthcare, foster care, and increased behavioral problems among children of young parents. As such, young mothers may require assistance to raise their children more responsibly; fostering academic persistence via the provision of needed resources and other evidence-based

strategies for improving academic achievement among young mothers may be a first and important step in improving long-term outcomes for young mothers and their children.

Social workers are responsible for extending educational opportunities to everyone, with special regard for vulnerable populations such as young mothers (Jansson, 2014). An effective program for improving academic persistence among this population may involve high school social workers providing young mothers with support and resources necessary to remain in high school (Akella & Jordan, 2014). According to the National Association of Social Workers (NASW, 2012), high school social workers must develop specialized awareness and comprehension regarding the students they serve. However, little is known about the strategies these professionals employ to foster academic persistence among young mothers. As such, a knowledge gap exists regarding potential ways to improve academic and social support provided to young mothers. A better understanding of how social workers help young mothers may guide the development and improvement of policies that can be adopted to ultimately increase academic persistence among young mothers.

Problem Statement

The problem of the proposed study is that young mothers are less likely to remain in high school than their childless peers. Only about 50% of young mothers who have a child before the age of 18 remain in high school long enough to obtain a high school diploma by the age of 22 (Martin, Hamilton, & Osterman, 2015). Boggs and Duncan

(2014) noted that emotional and financial stressors often increase for young mothers because of inadequate support and resources, which impede academic persistence.

Available day care facilities are often too expensive for young mothers to afford (Dumas & Terrell, 2017). The costs of young motherhood can be lasting and pervasive; as Watson and Vogel (2017) explained, young mothers are more likely to drop out and become impoverished single parents. The children of young mothers are more likely to experience health issues, poor academic achievement, and problem behaviors (Norton, Chandra-Mouli, & Lane, 2017).

Assistance from high school social workers may improve academic persistence among young mothers (CDC, 2015). According to the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU, 2014), young mothers often drop out of high school because of impractical and unaccommodating high school rules that make it difficult for them to stay in high school. High school social workers provide an important connection between school, home, and the community to assist students with academic persistence (NASW, 2012).

Given punitive stances toward young mothers and welfare reform that has reduced assistance available to young mothers (Tach & Edin, 2017), it is particularly important that other professionals tasked with helping young mothers provide the most effective and research-based strategies to improve academic persistence. Further, as SmithBattle (2007) explained, there is significant disjointedness in terms of researchers' and leaders' perceptions of needs among teen mothers, and perceptions of those needs

among the professionals tasked with helping them. Thus, research on strategies high school social workers employ to foster academic persistence among young mothers between the ages of 15 and 19 may ultimately explain ways to improve the support provided to young mothers.

Purpose Statement and Research Question

The purpose of the proposed qualitative action research study is to explore the social support strategies that high school social workers employ to foster academic persistence among young mothers between the ages of 15 and 19 in an urban high school district in New Jersey. The following essential question will guide the proposed study:

RQ1: What social support strategies do high school social workers employ to improve academic persistence among young mothers?

Key Terms

Key terms for the proposed research are conceptually defined, as follows:

Academic persistence: In this study, academic persistence refers to remaining in high school after giving birth; it means continuing one's education despite barriers (Butler-Barnes, Varner, Williams, & Sellers, 2017). By persisting in high school, young mothers may be more likely to graduate. As Butler-Barnes et al. (2017) explained, "academic persistence enables students to continue to engage in academic tasks even when facing challenges and has been associated with mastery of skills and content areas" (p. 715).

High school social workers: Social workers are professionals tasked with providing parenting education and support to young mothers, including emotional, personal, and academic support (Hepworth et al., 2016).

Social support: As defined by Unger and Wandersman (1985), social support describes the degree to which an individual feels his or her needs for support are met.

Social work programs: Social work programs are those that provide resources used by high school social workers to help young mothers remain in high school (Boggs & Duncan, 2014).

Teen pregnancy: Teen pregnancy is defined as the delivery of a child prior to a young woman's 20th birthday (Turney et al., 2011).

Young mothers: Building on the definition of teen pregnancy, young mothers are defined as females between the ages of 15 and 19 who are mothers to young children.

Contribution to Professional Social Work Practice

Findings from this study may be used to improve social workers' abilities to help young mothers remain in high school by guiding them to effective support services.

According to Dulmus (2012), the objective of the discipline of social work is to restore social functioning and promote social justice among individuals, families, groups, communities, organizations, and society, with an emphasis on vulnerable populations.

Understanding the strategies that high school social workers employ to foster academic

persistence among young mothers is essential to improving long-term outcomes for young mothers and their children.

Nature of the Doctoral Project

The nature of the proposed study is qualitative. An action research methodology was used to explore the strategies that high school social workers employ to foster academic persistence among young mothers. I selected the action research design because of its utility for researchers who seek to examine and address social problems. According to MacColl, Cooper, Rittenbruch, and Viller (2005), action research is an interactive method that combines theory and practice. The cornerstone of action research is collaborative analysis with participants, followed by collaborative changes determined by participants and researchers. This design is focused on action, change, collaboration, and participation, and is best suited for intervention-based studies. Because the proposed research is based on the development of solutions to a pressing social problem, an action research design was deemed most appropriate. Data were obtained via a focus group comprised of six high school social workers. This six-step analysis process consisted of the following (performed for each data source):

- 1. Review data repeatedly by reading and rereading
- 2. Generate list of codes from data
- 3. Combine codes into themes and subthemes
- 4. Analyze themes theoretically

- 5. Define each theme
- 6. Write up results of analysis

The sample for the proposed study consisted of six high school social workers who are currently employed at two high schools located in a single urban high school district located in New Jersey. The high school district was selected due to its close proximity to my home and because the county in which the high school district resides has one of the highest rates of teen pregnancy in the State of New Jersey. I selected a criterion-based purposive sample focused on current high school social workers at one of the two selected high schools who have earned a minimum of a master's degree in social work, have at least 2 years of experience as a high school social worker, and have experience working with young mothers.

Significance of the Study

The proposed study involved an investigation of the social support strategies high school social workers employ to help young mothers remain in high school.

Understanding the strategies that high school social workers leverage to foster academic persistence among young mothers is essential to improving long-term outcomes for young mothers and their children. The potential social implications from this research are vast, as improving the assistance provided to young mothers may help ensure academic persistence and graduation, and ultimately foster better long-term social, economic, and health outcomes for young mothers and their children.

Theoretical Framework

The framework for the proposed study is Cullen's social support theory. Social support describes assistance from social networks or other systems of support that are essential to meeting the needs of individuals (Cullen, 1994). According to Colvin, (2007) "social supports can occur at both the micro level and the macro level of society" and "can be more or less present within a complex organization" (p. 370). Social support is comprised of multiple factors, such as social integration, attachment, alliance, and guidance (Shaefer, Coyne, & Lazarus, 1981).

Importantly, differences exist in terms of individuals' perceived social support and their actual social networks. According to Shaefer et al. (1981), social networks are links that exist between groups of people. Social networks may refer to the actual social resources an individual has access to, while perceived social support describes the emotional and relational support that individuals perceive they have access to. Secco and Moffatt (1994) described social support as "a complex, multidimensional construct" (p. 517). Social networks describe support that is contingent upon individuals' relationships with others. In the proposed study, young mothers' relationships with their parents, teachers, and social workers all represent relationships within their social networks. Social support consists of the actual resources and emotional support provided to them. . As Secco and Moffatt explained, an examination of social support is essential to research on young mothers.

Values and Ethics

The aim of the NASW Code of Ethics is to guide clinical social work practice and ensure that social workers employ options for all students to access education. These options will allow young mothers the opportunity to remain in high school. Practitioners acquire and continue to develop specialized knowledge and understanding regarding the histories, traditions, values, family systems, and artistic expression of major client groups served (NASW, 2017).

The proposed study is guided by three of the ethical principles outlined on the NASW Code of Ethics, including the following:

- Social workers' primary goal is to help people in need and address social problems.
- 2. Social workers challenge social injustice. Young mothers are often considered a disadvantaged or marginalized population. To prevent social injustice, these young mothers should be provided with the support they need to achieve desired outcomes, such as obtaining an education and raising healthy children.
- Social workers recognize the central importance of human relationships.
 Collaborative relationships between social workers, young mothers, family members, and other community members are essential to the provision of this support.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Processes and Steps

The aim of this section is to examine relevant academic and professional literature related to the strategies that social workers employ to help young mothers remain in high school. I used Walden University's online library, as well as academic databases including PsycINFO. I used a number of key terms, including *social workers*, *roles*, *young mothers*, *teen mothers*, *graduation*, *academic persistence*, *childcare*, *resources*, and *education*. In general, most of the included literature was published after 2013. When appropriate, older or seminal studies with significant relevance were included. The literature review provides important information to conceptualize the proposed research. The approach used to organize this literature review involved starting with broader research and moving to more specific and relevant studies.

Teen Pregnancy

Nationwide, the rate of unintended teen pregnancies has declined. According to Filner and Zolna (2014) the overall reduction in the U.S. teen pregnancy rate is mostly a result of the drop of pregnancies among young women between the ages of 18 and 19. Between 2001 and 2008, the overall rate of unintended pregnancies in the United States increased among disadvantaged groups; however, the rate of teen pregnancies declined during this period (Filner & Zolna, 2014). The decline in teen pregnancy between 2001

and 2008 is reflective of the trend in declining teen pregnancy rates that has occurred since the 1990s (Kost, Henshaw, & Carlin, 2010).

According to Hamilton and Matthews (2016), the U.S. teen pregnancy rate reached historic lows every year between 2009 and 2016. Data were aggregated by race and mothers' age at birth. Hamilton and Matthews found that several factors may have contributed to the decline in teen pregnancy, including increase in abstinence, decreases in sexual activity among teenagers, increased use of effective contraceptives, and increases in pregnancy prevention programs aimed at teenagers (Hamilton & Mathews, 2016). This increase in contraceptive use is likely the leading contributing factor to the reduced rate of teen pregnancy (Lindberg et al., 2016).

Despite the decline, U.S. teen pregnancy remains a pressing social issue. Each day, approximately 1,100 girls between the ages of 15 and 19 become mothers (Linton & Rueda, 2014). The rate of births among U.S. teens remains higher in the United States than in any other industrialized nation (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Statistics Division, 2015). The average rate of pregnancy among U.S. girls between the ages of 15 and 19 is 57 per 1,000 females (Sedgh, Finer, Bankole, Eilers, & Singh, 2015). Young mothers are more likely to drop out of high school, become single parents (Martin et al., 2015; Watson & Vogel, 2017), and experience significant emotional and financial stressors (Boggs & Duncan, 2014).

Young Mothers and Dropout

Dropping out of high school is a persistent problem for young mothers. Only about 50% of young mothers who have a child before the age of 18 remain in high school long enough to obtain a high school diploma by the age of 22 (Hamilton et al., 2015). Boggs and Duncan (2014) noted that emotional and financial stressors often increase for young mothers because of inadequate support and resources, which impede academic persistence. For example, available day care facilities are often too expensive for young mothers to afford (Dumas & Terrell, 2017); thus, they may not be able to afford childcare in order to return to high school after giving birth. Dumas and Terrell (2017) conducted four focus groups with 19 young mothers to explore unmet needs and barriers faced by these women, in terms of social and medical support, and results indicated that the most significant and common challenges among these mothers related to child care and transportation. An increase in social support resources such as childcare is essential to helping young mothers overcome challenges.

In addition, young mothers may drop out because of unaccommodating high school rules that make it difficult for them to continue their education (ACLU, 2014). According to SmithBattle et al. (2017), young mothers often lack resources needed to continue schooling, which can prompt them to drop out of high school. Findings from this study suggest that although young mothers may encounter barriers to completing high school, their desire to do so may actually increase as a result of having children.

Because many young mothers are responsible for caring for their children with little financial and childcare assistance, lack of access to childcare can serve as a major impediment to their ability to remain in high school, despite the desire to complete their education.

High School Social Workers

High school social workers may play an active role in improving the academic persistence of young mothers as they help students who are economically, socially, politically, or personally marginalized by creating partnerships between students and high school and home environments. In these roles, high school social workers may work with students and teachers, individually, to address the unique needs of each student. As Cooper (2016) explained, "school social workers possess the skills, knowledge, and ability to intervene or advocate for students, as individuals or in groups; while simultaneously, formulating systemic interventions to address the students' needs and behaviors" (p. 7). Specifically, these professionals are tasked with developing interventions as well as preventative plans to help meet the educational and social needs of students. In these ways, social workers may play an essential role in helping young mothers remain in high school, by providing them with the social support and resources they need to persist academically.

The demand for high school social workers has grown as U.S. high schools have become increasingly diverse. In the absence of social workers, high schools experience difficulties addressing nonacademic barriers to student learning, such as truancy and teen pregnancy (Bye, Shephard, Partridge, & Alvarez, 2009). Often, school social workers partner with large social work organizations to develop collaborative partnerships, gain support, and access resources needed for their work (D'Agostino, 2013). As Constable (2016) explained, high schools have broadened their mission over the last century to address the needs of each learner and foster respect for their unique differences and needs. Because school social workers are tasked with meeting the complex needs of students with specific barriers and challenges, their roles are often dynamic and complex. These professionals must possess the skills and training needed to deal with students' educational barriers. School social workers must work to ensure that all children are included in the educational process, and the individual differences of learners are respected (Goldkind, 2011). Often, school social workers possess ample skills in terms of relationship-building, advocacy, and problem-solving.

Social Support Strategies for Young Mothers

High school social workers are dedicated to providing resources and support needed by young mothers to prevent a variety of detrimental consequences. According to Domenico and Jones (2007), the support provided by school personnel determines young mothers' academic paths. Unfortunately, most of the support programs developed for teen pregnancy are focused on prevention through abstinence and sexual education rather than providing assistance for young women who have had children (Domenico & Jones,

2007). High school staff's lack of intervention to support young mothers often results in the postponement or termination of their education. Consequently, it is beneficial for social workers to assist young mothers by building their confidence and self-esteem.

It is necessary for social workers to provide young mothers with effective resources to improve their academic persistence. Due to the lack of social workers who provide social and economic resources in school settings, students rarely return to school once they drop out (Michailakis & Schirmer, 2014). The goal of the social work practice is to help others acquire knowledge regarding sources, consequences, and answers to social issues (Michailakis & Schirmer, 2014). Linton and Rueda (2014) said that support from social workers may help young mothers remain in high school, which is essential to improving life outcomes necessary for them to acquire the skills needed to solve problems and succeed. That is, high school social workers may help young mothers address the problems associated with young motherhood via the provision of support and resources. The support and resources provided by high school social workers may help young mothers deal with life changes via access to tools and strategies needed to meet their financial, educational, and emotional needs. According to the CDC (2015), providing support services within the high school system is essential to improving the academic persistence of young mothers. By removing obstacles and providing support, social workers may help young mothers manage challenges and remain in high school (Leplatte et al., 2012).

Social workers are essential to community and school-based programs that aim to decrease young mothers' dependency on welfare, reduce the likelihood of repeat pregnancies, and decrease the dropout rate (Hepworth, Rooney, & Strom-Gottfried, 2016). Through engaging and connecting with young mothers while maintaining a nonjudgmental attitude, social workers can motivate these girls to remain in high school and view social workers as people they can connect with to seek out support services. Additionally, social workers provide a channel through which young mothers can communicate freely, helping them to identify goals, strengths, and career paths that allow them to maximize their abilities and function independently while addressing their diverse social, emotional, and financials needs (Hepworth et al., 2016). The trusting environments created by social workers may facilitate engagement and connection with school among young mothers, helping them feel more involved, committed, and invested in achieving their short- and long-term goals. Seitz (1999) determined that the majority of young mothers did not complete high school due to the burden of motherhood responsibilities, economic constraints, and reliance on welfare, social stigma, emotional stress, and physical exhaustion.

Becoming a young mother often leads to role conflicts because parenting responsibilities interfere with high school commitments and career development (Hepworth et al., 2016). Barber and East (2014) tested whether high educational aspirations among pregnant adolescents are related to a rejection of pregnancy and

whether those thoughts led to parenting stress and inadequacy later. Students' educational ambitions were related to greater avoidance of pregnancy. Young mothers who did have a child felt trapped by parenting at 6 months after birth. This feeling was also related to parenting that lacked displays of affection and feelings of inadequacy in mothering one year following birth. Becoming a young mother was disruptive to academic persistence and gave rise to poor parenting styles later.

Thus, high school social workers must employ strategies to help young mothers remain in high school. An important responsibility of high school social workers that may improve academic persistence is connecting with and engaging young mothers while creating supportive environments that integrate effective support systems and resources. The interventions set forth by high school social workers within the school system may also benefit entire communities by providing strategies to foster academic persistence among young mothers while reducing associated social and economic burdens shouldered by communities.

Because of inadequate social and economic resources, young mothers rarely return to high school after dropping out (Michailakis & Schirmer, 2014). Thus, it is necessary that young mothers are provided with resources that foster academic persistence in order to prevent dropping out in the first place. Education provides young mothers with better life outcomes by equipping them with the necessary skills to solve problems and provide for themselves and their children. High school social workers may

help young mothers deal with challenges of motherhood by teaching them how to meet their own financial, educational, and emotional needs. Unfortunately, the educational needs of young mothers are often neglected by high school social workers, and little research exists to understand why this happens. According to the CDC (2015), support services within the school system are essential to helping young mothers remain in high school.

By decreasing high school dropout rates among young mothers, high school social workers may help relieve associated financial and social burdens shouldered by society. According to the CDC (2013), teenage pregnancy cost taxpayers an estimated \$9.4 billion in 2011, alone. Hamilton, Martin, and Ventura (2015) explained that young motherhood often has persistent ramifications for mother and child; such consequences are usually of economic nature and shouldered by taxpayers. Career advancements are hindered as young mothers drop out of high school and are unable to attend college, ultimately limiting their contributions to society. The CDC (2013) noted that some of the costs to society include healthcare, foster care, and increased imprisonment rates among the children of teen parents.

Historically, high school leaders have focused on sex education as an intervention to prevent teen pregnancy (Barbee, Cunningham, van Zyl, Antle, & Langley, 2016; Coyle et al., 2001). According to the CDC (2014), sex education programs focused on abstinence may also provide information on safe sex; however, these programs do little to

address teen pregnancy after it has happened. Consequently, additional guidance and resources are needed by teen moms in order to foster academic persistence among this population (CDC, 2013). The foundational support provided by high school social workers may help young mothers enhance their educational goals, decrease dependency on welfare, and save tax payer dollars.

Emotional/social support. Emotional and social support may be essential to effective interventions for young mothers. In a qualitative study using in-depth interviews with 16 African-born refugee young women in Melbourne, Australia, Watts, Liamputtong, and McMichael (2015) found it is necessary for service providers to engage young mothers in activities that help them manage their stress levels because excess stress negatively affects their education. According to Ngum Chi Watts et al. (2015), the collaboration of service providers is necessary to resolve some of the problems young mothers face, which can ultimately disrupt their educations. The ways young mothers adjust to life changes influence their educational achievement, and failure to adapt to those changes can increase dropout risks (Watts, Liamputtong, & McMichael, 2015). These findings may suggest that high school social workers who are unprepared to help young mothers may be unable to help them manage challenges and barriers to education, including stress and mental health issues.

Poor emotional health associated with depression and anxiety affects different aspects of life (Leplatte et al., 2012). Adolescent mothers often require counseling from

high school social workers to help them psychologically prepare for the challenges associated with young motherhood (Watts et al., 2015). Raising a child involves a number of challenging activities and demands that can adversely affect the education of young mothers who lack adequate support (Letourneau et al., 2004). Another existing challenge is stigma associated with young motherhood, which can make young mothers reluctant to seek out support services (Leplatte et al., 2012). School social workers play an important role in helping young mothers manage and reduce associated emotional stressors (Akella & Jordan, 2014).

Social support in the form of familial support, support from friends, and support from the wider community are essential to improving the educational achievement of young mothers (East, Chien, & Barber, 2012). Familial support may help ensure young mothers return to high school. The social and health consequences of young motherhood have direct effects on educational outcomes. Regret among young mothers is the cause of many mental health issues (East et al., 2012). Education and awareness programs for young mothers are essential to shaping students' awareness of the challenges associated with pregnancy and young motherhood.

Tangible outcomes. In addressing the challenges facing teen mothers, there is a need for social workers to focus on improving parenting outcomes, education, and economic self-sufficiency. Remaining in high school is crucial to ensuring young mothers are employable and self-sufficient. The educational needs of young mothers

require a social support system that begins with school social workers. Stigma against young mothers may exist in educational institutions, and challenges exist with managing the multiple responsibilities forced upon young mothers (Smith et al., 2012). Social work initiatives are essential to dealing with such issues. Moreau and Kerner (2012) found that childcare is a major challenge for young mothers. In addition, Moreau and Kerner (2012) suggested that financial difficulties associated with childcare costs can impede the educational achievement of young mothers. Thus, tangible financial support from institutions is essential to helping young mothers shoulder financial responsibilities.

Access to information. Access to information needed to persist in high school may also help improve academic outcomes for young mothers. A number of studies demonstrate the link between young motherhood and social problems such as poverty (East et al., 2012), which may be related to a lack of informational support. Young mothers are usually beginning parenthood while they are still dependent on their own parents.

It is necessary for high school social workers to implement intervention strategies focused on the social welfare and guidance of young mothers in order to positively affect their academic futures. Parenting education enables young mothers to complete high school while managing the responsibilities of parenthood (Ricks, 2016). Continuing education after pregnancy is a challenge and young mothers often require educational alternatives. Educational alternatives are important interventions for improving academic

persistence (Ricks, 2016). As such, high school social workers should exercise their responsibilities in making sure young mothers return to high school after giving birth.

Summary of Solutions Used to Assist Young Mothers to Remain in High School

Various solutions have been developed to help young mothers remain in high school. These solutions increase the likelihood that young mothers graduate by providing the comprehensive services to facilitate the completion of high school. Some of the solutions offer childcare services as an incentive for young mothers to remain in high school. The Graduation Reality and Dual Role Skills (GRADS) program was implemented in Seattle to help young mothers develop work and parenting skills (White & Cummings, 1995). In this program, high school social workers provide expecting and young mothers with the tools necessary to decrease stresses related to motherhood (White & Cummings, 1995). The GRADS program provides young mothers with essential parenting skills, thereby reducing the time spent to learn the basics of taking care of children (White & Cummings, 1995). In this regard, mothering students are able to dedicate more of their time to studying. GRADS is an effective solution because it helps young mothers in finish high school by providing them with convenient on-site daycare (White & Cummings, 1995). The assistance of high school support staff provides pregnant and young mothers with opportunities to graduate as scheduled. According to Leplatte et al. (2012), support services encourage positive mother-child relationships while addressing the social and emotional needs of young mothers.

Services that provide support to young mothers foster academic persistence whereas those that prevent pregnancy reduce the educational difficulties associated with early childbearing. Steinka-Fry et al. (2013) noted such programs are effective in reducing school dropout and increasing the enrollment rates among young mothers. Although multi-service programs and attendance programs have proven to increase graduation rates by 11 to 13%, they do not entail the responsibility of high school social workers addressing the issue from several different aspects. Moreover, some of the existing programs do not assist those who are currently young mothers. High school social workers are also important for addressing existing myths and misconceptions about the educational progress of young mothers. Proper educational policies increase the ease of re-entry or continuation of education despite challenges associated with pregnancy and parenting (SmithBattle, 2007). Therefore, these programs must incorporate the aspect of social work to improve benefits of academic persistence among young mothers. Young motherhood is a common cause of dropout among high school girls. Moreau and Kerner (2012) that such services could be developed within existing programs and include activities to promote self-awareness, health, and some form of exploration of values, faith, and family.

Watson and Vogel (2017) conducted a qualitative case study that involved six parenting teen mothers who attended three different educational settings. The aim of the study was to explore the factors that played a role in mothers' educational. The study

highlighted the struggles and successes they faced as mothers in high school. Four themes emerged, including struggle, support, hope, and perseverance.

Summary

Young mothers often lack resources needed to persist academically, which can result in dropout (SmithBattle et al., 2017). Between shifting priorities and the barriers to staying in high school after giving birth, academic persistence is a significant challenge for young mothers. Research indicates that academic persistence among young mothers may be improved by providing them with resources needed to overcome common barriers associated with young motherhood.

Assistance from high school social workers may improve academic persistence among young mothers (CDC, 2015). SmithBattle (2007) explained, existing research reveals significant disjointedness between the perceptions of needs among teen mothers and the perceptions of those needs among the professionals tasked with helping them. Thus, research on the strategies high school social workers employ to foster academic persistence among young mothers between the ages of 15 and 19 may ultimately shed light on ways to improve the support provided to young mothers. Thus, the purpose of the proposed qualitative action research study is to explore the social support strategies that high school social workers employ to foster academic persistence among young mothers between the ages of 15 and 19 in an urban high school district in New Jersey.

Social workers' knowledge and skills may help young mothers reach their educational goals and complete high school. By enhancing social workers' roles through knowledge and skills, they may be better equipped to help young mothers overcome obstacles and complete high school. The issue can be effectively addressed by implementing and following procedures to improve academic persistence among young mothers. Intervention strategies may help young mothers continue high school.

This section provided an introduction to the proposed research, including a background of the problem, the problem statement, purpose, and guiding research questions. The significance, nature of the study, and framework were also discussed. A review of the professional and academic literature provided further context for the proposed research while highlighting the gap in knowledge that will be addressed by the proposed research. The following section provides details of the proposed study's methodology.

Section 2: The Project

The problem of the proposed study is that young mothers are less likely to remain in high school than their peers without children. Only about 50% of young mothers who have a child before the age of 18 remain in high school long enough to obtain a diploma by the age of 22 (Hamilton et al., 2015). The costs of young motherhood can be lasting and pervasive. The children of young mothers are more likely to experience health issues, poor academic achievement, and problem behaviors than children of older mothers (Norton et al., 2017).

The purpose of the proposed research is to explore social workers' use of social support strategies to improve the academic persistence of young mothers. Findings from this investigation may be used to improve the services that high school social workers provide to young mothers to facilitate educational continuation. The aim of this section is to present methodological details of the proposed research, including the study design, sources of data, and ethical procedures.

Research Design

The problem of the proposed study is that young mothers are less likely to remain in high school than their peers without children. The following question guided the proposed study: What social support strategies do high school social workers employ to improve academic persistence among young mothers? The nature of the proposed study is qualitative and involves an action research design to explore the social support

strategies that high school social workers employ to foster academic persistence among young mothers.

Methodology

Prospective Data

The proposed study consists of focus group data. As detailed later in this section, all data was thematically analyzed using the procedures recommended by Braun and Clarke (2006). Six individuals from the two selected high schools participated in two focus groups (one focus group for each school). My decision to use two focus groups is based on the initial sample size of seven total participants and the desire to keep focus groups at a small and manageable size of three to four participants, each. Dworkin (2012) noted that the sample size in qualitative research is often smaller as it is concerned with gathering a thorough understanding of an occurrence or collecting data that represent perspectives and experiences. The focus group protocol (see Appendix C) was designed to align with the evidence-based strategies for improving academic resilience among young mothers that I identified in the existing body of research. The focus group lasted approximately 60 minutes and took place in a conference room at a local public library.

Participants

The sample for the proposed study consisted of six high school social workers who are currently employed at two schools located in a single school district in a large

urban city in New Jersey. The school district was selected due to its close geographic proximity to my location, as well as the high rate of teen pregnancy in this particular area. Participants were a criterion-based purposive sample based on the inclusion criteria that they were current high school social workers at one of the two selected high schools, had earned a minimum of a master's degree in social work, had at least 2 years of experience as a high school social worker, and had experience working with young mothers.

In qualitative research, appropriate sample size is determined by saturation, which is the point at which no new ideas emerge from collected data (Tracy, 2013). Ultimately, in order for qualitative data to be considered trustworthy, saturation must be achieved. A number of recommendations exist to guide qualitative researchers in determining an appropriate starting sample size. Because the proposed study involved rich data from a focus group, I selected a smaller sample of six participants.

In order to recruit participants, I obtained organizational consent from administrators of the two high schools. A solicitation email was sent to administrators at the two selected high schools which explained the purpose of the study and participation requirements and requested permission to interview high school social workers employed at each of these locations. Once permission was granted, I requested the email addresses of high school social workers at each school in order to send out study invitations. Email invitations (see Appendix A) provided details of the study and participation requirements. Individuals interested in participating were asked to reply to the email in order to

schedule times for the focus group. Upon confirming eligibility, I sent participants informed consent forms, and asked that they read, sign, and return them via email before the scheduled focus group. In addition, the email contained a brief demographic questionnaire (see Appendix B), which participants filled out and returned via email.

Instrumentation

A focus group protocol was used to guide the data collection process. The focus group protocol was developed based on the evidence-based strategies for improving academic resilience among young mothers that I identified in the existing body of research. The questions in the focus group protocol were designed to foster social engagement and interactions across the group.

Data Analysis

In order to analyze study data, the focus group was audio-recorded and transcribed by me. In this way, the final raw form of data consisted of one focus group transcript. Data were thematically analyzed following the procedures described by Braun and Clarke (2006). This six-step process consisted of the following performed for each data source:

- 1. Review data repeatedly by reading and rereading
- 2. Generate list of codes from data
- 3. Combine codes into themes and subthemes
- 4. Analyze themes theoretically

5. Define each theme

6. Write up results of analysis

The first step in the analysis process involved reading and rereading textual data. I immersed myself in the data by reading through them three times each in order to be familiarized with the data and start to recognize potential codes. Once complete, I moved on to step two of the analysis process, which involved the generation of codes. During this step, I made note of words, phrases, and ideas that were repeated in the data and assigning a code to each. All coding and analysis was done manually; no software was used. To help organize data during the coding and analysis processes, I used Microsoft Excel. After coding was complete, I moved onto the third step of identifying themes. During this step, I began to sort the codes that were identified during the previous step into themes and subthemes. I looked for relationships between the codes that were developed to determine if they could be combined into themes or subthemes. During this step, I also dismissed codes that no longer seemed relevant to any of the identified themes or subthemes, and which were not strongly aligned with the framework and research questions.

During the fourth step of thematic analysis, I refined the themes that were roughly identified in the previous step. By refining the themes, I reorganized and combined them, and broke larger themes down into subthemes. This process helped to ensure themes were distinct from one another, aligned with the research question and framework, and

that they were divided into subthemes as necessary to allow for adequate discussion and analysis. Once themes and subthemes were finalized, I moved on to the fifth step of the analysis process, which involved defining and naming themes and subthemes. Finally, during the last step of the process, I wrote up the results of the analysis, which is presented in the following section of this project.

Trustworthiness

The rigor of qualitative research is ensured via trustworthiness. Trustworthy data is that which accurately reflects the actual experiences, ideas, and thoughts that participants intended to convey via qualitative data collection (such as interviews and focus groups). The trustworthiness of qualitative data is established by ensuring study dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability (Guba & Lincoln, 1982).

Credibility describes how closely data reflect the ideas participants intended to convey (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Credibility will be enhanced in the proposed research via the use of multiple techniques. A reflexive journal was also maintained, which helped prevent any personal thoughts, opinions, or biases from influencing study data. I wrote in the reflexive journal as a strategy to compartmentalize personal thoughts, opinions, and biases in order to prevent any subjective thoughts from influencing study data. The reflexive journal entries were not a source of data in this study, and nobody reviewed it but me; it was simply a tool to help improve the credibility of data. Member checking was also employed of the initial analyses to improve credibility. In addition to

improving the credibility of data, member checking empowered participants to become co-researchers by taking an active role in the process of data analysis. To conduct member checking, copies of the initial analyses was sent to participants, via email. I requested that participants review the preliminary analysis to ensure it aligned with the ideas they intended to communicate during the focus group. Participants had a week to review the preliminary analysis and share their feedback.

Transferability describes how well study findings transfer to other samples and contexts (Anney, 2014). Bitsch (2005) recommended increasing transferability via thick description and purposive sampling; I will employ both of these strategies in the proposed research. Detailed records of all study procedures were maintained and any deviances from the planned methods were reported. In action research, transferability is dependent on readers' decisions about how findings transfer to other contexts.

Ethical Procedures

A number of safeguards were employed to ensure the ethical treatment of study participants. Before any study data was collected, I obtained approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board. Once university approval was obtained, I secured consent from the district superintendent, as well as administrators from each of the two study sites. After these three levels of permissions were secured, I solicited prospective participants.

I obtained signed consent from each participant prior to data collection. The consent form detailed the study's purpose, participation requirements, risks, and benefits. In addition, the consent form explained that participation was completely voluntary and that all participants had the right to withdraw from the research at any point, with no penalty. The consent form also detailed protections provided to ensure confidentiality. Pseudonyms were assigned to each participant, as well as the study site high schools. No direct quotes that contain potentially identifying information or other identifying information from the focus group was included in the study results.

I did not retain a link that connects participants' actual names with their chosen pseudonyms. If a participant wishes to withdraw from the investigation, they will have to identify themselves by their chosen pseudonym so that I may remove their data from my analysis. No incentives were provided for participation. In order to prevent any potential conflicts of interest, no participants with whom I had current or previous professional relationships with were included. No threats of coercion regarding participation existed on any level. In addition, the basic ethical principles outlined in the Belmont Report were adhered to. These principles included respect, justice, and beneficence.

In terms of the security of study data, all data was stored in their electronic forms on my personal password-protected computer. I personally transcribed the focus groups, such that I was the only person who has access to raw data. All study data will be stored

for a period of 5 years, as required by Walden University; after that time, all raw data will be permanently deleted.

Summary

It is necessary for high school social workers to employ effective, research-based strategies to improve the high school retention of young mothers. Pregnancy and young motherhood are significant barriers to educational attainment (Akella & Jordan, 2015), as motherhood is stressful and requires significant resources that young mothers often lack. Among the many responsibilities of high school social workers are working with young mothers to ensure academic persistence. Without the necessary social support and encouragement, young mothers are at an increased risk for dropping out of high school.

With the proper resources and guidance, young mothers may be more hopeful about remaining in high school and continuing their education with confidence.

However, little is known about the social support strategies that high school social workers employ to help young mothers. A better understanding of these strategies may shed light on ways that the assistance provided to young mothers may be improved, or how high school social workers may be better trained to help young mothers obtain the assistance and support they need to ensure academic persistence.

This section provided details of the study's methodology, including the method, design, and sampling strategy. Data and study instrumentation were also described, as were data collection, analysis, assurance of trustworthiness, and ethical treatment of

participants. The results are presented in Section 3.

Section 3: Presentation of the Findings

The purpose of this qualitative action research study was to explore the social support strategies that high school social workers employ to foster academic persistence among young mothers between the ages of 15 and 19. Participating social workers were employed in two high schools in an urban New Jersey school district. The following essential question guided this investigation: What social support strategies do high school social workers employ to improve academic persistence among young mothers?

Data were collected via two focus groups, which consisted of a total of six participants. I originally intended to obtain a sample of seven focus group participants; however, finding school social workers who were willing to participate in this study proved more difficult than expected. After several weeks of inquiries, I was able to set up two focus groups with two different schools. Three participants were scheduled for the first focus group, and four were scheduled for the second one. However, one of the social workers did not show up for the first focus group, reducing the total sample to six. I opted to proceed as planned, with an understanding that if saturation was not indicated by focus group data from the six participants, additional social workers would be recruited and a third focus group would be conducted. Fortunately, preliminary analysis of focus group transcripts revealed that saturation was met, as no new themes or information emerged toward the end of the analysis.

The two focus groups were conducted as planned and described in Section 2 of this project. Data collection took place at a public library. I led the focus groups, following the focus group protocol in Appendix C. Informed consent was collected prior to data collection, and focus groups were audio recorded with permission from all participants.

This section contains results from the thematic analysis of focus group data. The section begins with a description of the data analysis process that was followed. Study findings are then provided, including a step-by-step breakdown of the processes for coding and theme development. A description of the sample is also included. The section closes with a summary and transition to Section 4, a discussion of how findings apply to professional practice and implications for social change.

Data Analysis Techniques

Data for this project were collected over a 3-week period. The first focus group was conducted during the second week of June, 2019, and the second one was conducted during the first week of July, 2019. The focus groups lasted approximately 60 minutes, with the second one slightly longer because it consisted of more participants. Besides the unexpected no-show of one member of the first focus group, as previously mentioned, both groups were conducted as planned and described in Section 2.

Sample Description

The final sample consisted of six school social workers who were currently employed at two high schools in the State of New Jersey. Two participants were male and four were female. A brief description of each participant, identified by his or her chosen pseudonym, is provided.

Tracey. Tracey participated in the first focus group. Tracey is a 56-year-old Caucasian male who has been a school social worker for 15 years. He holds a master's degree and worked previously as a group home director.

Mike. Mike participated in the first focus group. Mike is a 36-year-old African American male who has been a school social worker for 3 years. He holds a master's degree and previously worked as a hospital social worker.

Meeka. Meeka participated in the second focus group. She is a 42-year-old African American female who has served as a school social worker for 10 years. Prior to this work, she was a crisis counselor. Her highest level of completed education is a master's degree.

Natalie. Natalie participated in the second focus group. Natalie is a 40-year-old female African American/Latina who has been working as a school social worker for 16 years. She holds a MSW.

Felicia. Felicia participated in the second focus group. Felicia is a 42-year-old African American female with three years of experience as a school social worker. She

possesses two master's degrees. Her former professional experience includes serving as an assistant principal.

Mark. Mark participated in the second focus group. Mark is a 49-year-old male African American/Latino who holds a master's degree and has worked as a school social worker for 19 years. Prior to this position, Mark worked as a social worker for a group home.

After data collection for both groups were complete, I personally transcribed audio recordings of the two focus groups. Data analysis was conducted as detailed in Section 2. This six-step process consisted of the following:

- 1. Review data repeatedly by reading and rereading
- 2. Generate list of codes from data
- 3. Combine codes into themes and subthemes
- 4. Analyze themes
- 5. Define each theme
- 6. Write up results of analysis

During the first step, I read the focus group transcripts repeatedly to become familiar with the data. During this step, she began to make notes of ideas, utterances, and phrases that were repeated during the focus group sessions. During the second step, I coded all of the study data, assigning codes to each set of ideas, words, or phrases that repeatedly appeared. All coding was manually performed; qualitative data analysis

software was not used. Codes were organized into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. The final list consisted of 30 codes; each code and its corresponding frequency are illustrated in Table 1.

Table 1
Frequency of Codes

Codo	Engarage
Code	Frequency
Healthcare	4
Identify current supports	8
Academic barriers	5
Counseling	5
Refer to programs/resources	19
Communicate with teachers	2
Onsite daycare	4
Free daycare	8
Transportation assistance	3
Parenting skills	3
Vouchers	2
Provide information	7
Coach/encourager	3
Help applying for assistance	8 3 3 2 7 3 5 9
Government assistance	9
Help finding employment	4
Education on financial literacy/budgeting	2
Food	3
Clothing	2 3 2 3 7
Tutoring	3
Student/teacher relationships	7
Student/teacher meetings	3
Don't do home visits	7
Guidance counselors	5
Look to the future	3
Mental health/resilience	3
Attendance	3
Flexibility	5 3 3 3 4
Autonomy	5
Personal responsibility	7

As indicated in Table 1, the most common code to appear was referring to programs/resources (n = 19). Other prominent codes included government assistance (n = 9), identifying current supports (n = 8), free daycare (n = 8), not doing home visits (n = 7), personal responsibility (n = 7), and student-teacher relationships (n = 7). The frequency of the remaining codes ranged from 2 to 5.

For steps 3 and 4 of the data analysis process, I began the process of organizing codes into themes and subthemes, and then differentiating and defining each theme. I examined similarities between codes and arranged them into common groups. During this process, the 30 codes were grouped into the following six themes: (a) childcare assistance, (b) fostering positive educational outcomes, (c) meeting basic needs, (d) providing information, support, and resources, (e) fostering positive change, and (f) home visits. A total of eight subthemes emerged, including (a) overcome barriers, (b) collaboration with teachers/guidance counselors, (c) financial assistance, (d) essential requirements, (e) information and support, (f) resources, (g) improving self-sufficiency, and (h) improving self-perceptions. Each of these themes and their corresponding subthemes and codes are represented in Table 2.

Per step five of Braun and Clarke's (2006) thematic analysis procedures, I defined each theme as follows.

Childcare assistance. The strategies and resources provided by school social

workers to help young mothers secure the childcare needed to return to school and secure employment.

Fostering positive educational outcomes. The strategies school social workers employed to help young mothers overcome barriers and achieve academic success.

Meeting basic needs. The strategies provided by school social workers to help young mothers meet basic financial and material needs.

Providing information, support, and resources. The information, support, and resources provided by school social workers to help young mothers overcome challenges related to young motherhood.

Fostering positive change. The ways that school social workers fostered improved self-sufficiency and self-perceptions among young mothers.

Home visits. Home visitation conducted by school social workers to follow up on the needs and progress of young mothers.

Table 2

Themes and Corresponding Codes

Theme	Subthemes	Corresponding Codes
Childcare assistance		Onsite daycare
		• Free daycare
Fostering positive	Overcome barriers	 Academic barriers
educational outcomes		 Tutoring
		 Attendance
		 Flexibility
	Collaboration with	• Communicate with teachers
	teachers/guidance	 Student/teacher
	counselors	relationships
		 Student/teacher meetings
		Guidance counselors
Meeting basic needs	Financial assistance	 Help finding employment
		 Vouchers
		 Government assistance
		 Help applying for
		assistance
	Essential requirements	 Healthcare
		 Transportation assistance
		Food
		• Clothing
Providing information,	Information and	 Provide information
support, and resources	Support	 Identify current supports
		Counseling
	Resources	• Refer to
		programs/resources
		Parent skills
Fostering positive change	Improving self-	 Autonomy
	sufficiency	 Personal responsibility
		• Education on financial
		literacy/budgeting
	Improving self-	• Look to the future
	perceptions	Coach/encourager
		 Mental health/resilience
Home visits		Don't do home visits

After themes were defined, member checking was conducted. Member checking empowers participants to become co-researchers by taking an active role in the process of data analysis. To conduct member checking, I sent copies of the initial analyses to participants, via email. Participants were asked to review the preliminary analysis to ensure it aligned with the ideas they intended to communicate during the focus groups. The period of member checking lasted one week. Feedback from all six participants was positive; member checking resulted in no changes to the analysis. Finally, step six consisted of writing up study results, which are presented in the following section.

Findings

Study findings are presented thematically. Each theme and its corresponding subthemes are discussed. Examples and quotes from focus group data are used to illustrate each theme and subtheme.

Childcare Assistance

The first theme of childcare assistance was defined as the strategies and resources provided by school social workers to help young mothers secure the childcare needed to return to school and secure employment. Four participants specifically mentioned onsite daycare options they would help eligible young mothers utilize. For example, Meeka's school provided young mothers with onsite daycare as long as they maintained an attendance rate of at least 85%. The free daycare available through Tracey's school required young mothers to maintain at least a C grade average to access the services.

Tracey explained that when young mothers were not eligible for the onsite daycare program, or when the program was full, he would refer mothers to other resources to help them obtain the childcare they needed, at no cost. Natalie's school also provided onsite daycare, and she explained that when working with young mothers, "I also talk with the daycare director at my school to see what are the steps for possibly applying for a spot in the school daycare." Mike connected young mothers to his school's free onsite daycare; when doing so, he would also connect them to home instructional resources to help mothers return to school after giving birth without falling significantly behind in their studies.

When young mothers were unable to access on-site childcare services, participants referred them to other sources of free daycare. Meeka explained that she would arrange childcare "through local organizations such as the Leaguers who provide onsite weekly support and case management." Natalie described a "Programs for Parents" intervention, through which young mothers could obtain vouchers for childcare. Similarly, Felicia explained, "I also provide information for schools that offers free and affordable childcare, such as Abbot programs, because it gives young mothers many options for childcare."

When asked about the strategies they used to help young mothers, academically, Tracy and Mike both emphasized the importance of connecting the women with free childcare options. For both of these participants, free daycare was viewed as an essential

part of helping young mothers succeed in school; daycare was not discussed in silos, but as a component of more comprehensive programs aimed at helping young mothers. For example, Mike described a school-based program that provided mothers with free childcare as well as additional resources to meet other needs. Tracey, who worked at the same school as Mike, described this program as a grant-funded initiative that provided young mothers with free childcare, as well as classes to develop parenting skills and early intervention services for children in need.

Fostering Positive Educational Outcomes

The second theme of fostering positive educational outcomes was defined as the strategies school social workers employed to help young mothers overcome barriers and achieve academic success. This theme consisted of the following two subthemes: overcome barriers and collaboration with teachers/guidance counselors.

Overcome barriers. School social workers fostered positive educational outcomes by helping young mothers deal with challenges related to learning and attending classes. Participants shared that many young mothers struggled academically, both before and after having a child. For example, Meeka shared, "I often experience young mothers who are struggling academically either before or after the birth of their child." Later, Meeka added that young mothers "frequently do not understand what is needed to bring up a grade or how to obtain academic success," suggesting that some of the challenges experienced by young mothers may relate to poor understandings of

academic requirements. Mike acknowledged the common academic barriers experienced by young mothers and worked to proactively set them up with home instruction options to prevent them from falling behind after giving birth. Mark shared that he would "develop academic strategies to help the student overcome academic, social and emotional impediments to learning by conducting student/teacher conferences, modifying student schedules, and emphasizing home study assignments." Mike emphasized reliance on peer tutors, explaining he would connect young mothers with peers tutors to obtain help in any subjects that young mothers struggled with.

Tracey, Mike, and Meeka all felt that connecting young mothers with tutoring resources could help them excel academically. Meeka worked directly with teachers to negotiate after school hours, during which teachers could provide individual academic assistance to young mothers. Tracey echoed this sentiment, sharing: "I also encourage them to utilize tutoring from teachers if they struggle to understand a particular subject."

Two participants (Meeka and Tracey) specifically mentioned the importance of helping young mothers maintain high attendance rates, as a key to ensuring academic success. Tracey explained that he expected students to "maintain a good attendance record." Tracey also mentioned the importance of holding young mothers accountable and following up on their class attendance. Mark and Felicia both acknowledged that regular attendance at traditional schools could be difficult for young mothers; these participants emphasized the importance of educational flexibility to ensure academic

success. For example, Mark shared, "I talk to teachers about providing flexible academic instruction for students," later adding that encouraging teachers to modify schedules and assignments for young mothers could foster improved academic outcomes. Felicia also believed that less rigid schedules were helpful for young mothers: "I think a combination of night and day school options will assist with flexibility."

Collaboration with teachers/guidance counselors. Another way that participants fostered positive educational outcomes among young mothers was through effective collaboration between young mothers, teachers, and guidance counselors. For example, Meeka emphasized the importance of maintaining communication with teachers and keeping them "in the loop about students' academic experiences." Natalie, Felecia, Tracey, and Mike all emphasized the importance of fostering healthy student/teacher relationships. Natalie explained, "I meet with the young mother and the teacher together and discuss concerns the young mother has. The teacher and I then strategize and work with the student to best assist her." Similarly, Felicia shared, "I try to encourage a proactive approach as opposed to a reactive approach, as it pertains to student/teacher relationships." Mike employed "social listening learning" to educate teachers on the needs of young mothers and foster strong student-teacher relationships through compassion. Three participants (Natalie, Meeka, and Mark) specifically described using student-teacher meetings to build relationships between young mothers and their teachers. Meeka also used student-teacher meetings as a tool to facilitate young mother's

autonomy, explaining that she encouraged young mothers to take the initiative to reach out to teachers, set up meetings, and engage in frequent conversations about their academic progress.

Three participants (Meeka, Natalie, and Felicia) also emphasized the importance of collaborating with guidance counselors to ensure the academic success of young mothers. For example, Meeka stated, "I help maintain transparent communication with teachers and guidance counselors; it keeps everyone on the same page and appears to help the mothers progress." Meeka later shared that she met with young mothers' guidance counselors each grading period to keep young mothers abreast of their progress and help them understand the impact of their academic progress on future college and career options. Natalie enlisted guidance counselors to help young mothers understand expectations and requirements for completing their education. Felicia shared that regular meetings with guidance counselors helped young mothers maintain pace with their academic responsibilities.

Meeting Basic Needs

The theme of meeting basic needs described the strategies provided by school social workers to help young mothers meet basic financial and material needs. This theme consisted of the following two subthemes: financial assistance and essential requirements.

Financial assistance. Financial assistance was viewed as essential to young mother's academic success. Without meeting their financial needs, young mothers are placed positions where they must focus on the survival of themselves and their children, de-emphasizing long-term academic success. The two main ways that school social workers helped young mothers meet their financial needs was through (a) helping them obtain employment, and (b) helping them obtain government assistance. Natalie, Felicia, Tracey, and Mike all mentioned ways they assisted young mothers with finding employment. For example, Natalie shared, "I also encourage the young mothers to finish school and help them apply for programs or trade schools, to help them access training that would lead to full time employment." Felicia provided young mothers with information on summer employment to help them "obtain some kind of financial stability." Tracey provided young mothers with employment resources and assisted with filling out job applications. When asked about the resources he provided to young mothers, Mike specifically mentioned helping them find jobs.

Participants also helped young mothers learn about and apply for government assistance to ease their financial burdens. Meeka described helping young mothers fill out WIC applications, while Natalie connected them with programs that helped them apply for aid through WIC, Medicaid, food stamps, or Section 8. Natalie also helped young mothers gather the documentation necessary to complete such applications.

Similarly, Marked shared: "I refer them to county social services for WIC, Food Stamps,

SNAP and rental assistance programs." Tracey would help young mothers set up TANF grant when necessary.

Essential requirements. Similar to the importance of making sure young mothers' financial needs were met through employment or government assistance, participants also shared ways they helped ensure essential needs (such as food, healthcare, transportation, and clothing) were met. Mark referred young mothers to nursing programs where they could obtain neonatal care. Tracey mentioned that the program at his school provided care intervention services for young babies, while Meeka communicated with young mothers' primary care providers to identify unmet healthcare needs, which she could then work to address.

Transportation was another essential need that participants assisted young mothers with. Reliable transportation is not only essential to getting to and from jobs, but also between school and daycare providers. The program at Meeka's school connected young mothers with transportation so they could get to and from school; she explained: "This can be in the form of bus tickets or van transport through a community organization for mothers who are classified." Felicia and Tracey also mentioned transportation services they often connected young mothers with.

Finally, participants described helping young mothers access the essential resources of food and clothing. Felicia provided referrals to food banks. Mike shared that he would "try to find whatever resources they need such as food and clothing."

Tracey referred young mothers to donation services "so they can get any needs, like food, clothes, pampers, and holiday gifts."

Providing Information, Support, and Resources

The theme of providing information, support, and resources was defined as the information, support, and resources provided by school social workers to help young mothers overcome challenges related to young motherhood. This theme consisted of the following two subthemes: information and support and resources.

Information and support. Many participants viewed the provision of information and support as essential to their professional roles. The code provide information was one of the more prominent codes in the dataset. Felicia shared that she provided young mothers with information for referral services; she also provided information to schools that could be distributed to help young mothers access services. Tracey mentioned providing information on childcare services, while Felicia gave young mothers information about summer employment. Mark provided young mothers with information about parenting programs, as well as resources to ensure they had safe environments.

An important form of support mentioned by four participants was counseling.

Natalie shared that she often provided young mothers with one-on-one counseling:

"Individual counseling helps give them the opportunity to vent, as well as work through social emotional issues they may be facing." Felicia offered both individual and group

counseling to young mothers, while Mark provided counseling to help young mothers improve their life skills. Mike cited counseling as one of the first strategies he leveraged to help young mothers.

In order to provide young mothers with valid and applicable information, participants also worked to identify supports they currently had, as well as those they did not have but were available to them. For example, when asked about the strategies she used to foster social support among young mothers, Meeka replied, "It is important for young mothers to first meet with the social worker to identify what current supports are in place." Following this line of thought, Natalie shared, "it is essential that they know there is support available for them." When asked how she helped young mothers access necessary financial resources, Meeka started with "An assessment of what is currently in place."

Resources. Overwhelmingly, all participants described their responsibilities for referring young mothers to the academic and personal resources they needed to stay in school and excel. In this way, participating school social workers often did not directly provide young mothers with essential resources; rather, they educated them and helped them access resources. The code refer to programs/resources was by far the most prominent one in the dataset, appearing 19 times across the two focus groups. All six participants described the ways they referred young mothers to essential resources. Felicia described referring young mothers to support groups for young parents, while

Natalie often referred them to programs that provided "resources such as a free doulas for delivery, assistance with applying for programs such as WIC and Medicaid." Mark referred young mothers to programs to obtain healthcare and parenting skills. Tracey and Mike both referred young mothers to the on-site program at their schools, as well as outside resources that were not available through the on-site program.

Most participants described referring mothers to programs where they could obtain free childcare. Mike specifically mentioned referring young mothers to home-based schooling options to help circumvent academic setbacks associated with the challenges of young motherhood. Mark referred young mothers to county social service programs, while Tracey gave referrals to donation services. Similarly, Mike mentioned referring young mothers to churches for charitable assistance. Felicia gave "referrals for after school programs that assist with assignments." The following sentiment from Tracey seemed to convey the comprehensive approach that participants took when referring young mothers to resources: "We pretty much are able to link teenage mothers to whatever services are needed."

Fostering Positive Change

The theme of fostering positive change was defined as the ways that school social workers fostered improved self-sufficiency and self-perceptions among young mothers.

This theme consisted of the following two subthemes: improving self-sufficiency and improving self-perceptions.

Improving self-sufficiency. Improving young mothers' sense of self-sufficiency was viewed by participants as essential to their academic progress and personal success. For example, when asked about the social support strategies she leveraged, Felicia referred young mothers to parent support groups because she believed they fostered self-sufficiency. The counseling sessions that Mark provided to young mothers emphasized "decision-making and personal responsibility," which may then create improvements in their sense of self-sufficiency. As previously mentioned, Tracey encouraged young mothers to take initiative and arrange meeting with their teachers, as this could foster a sense of autonomy and personal responsibility.

Mark emphasized the importance of providing young mothers with skills needed to practice resilience and perseverance so they can learn to act in the best interests of themselves and their children. Similarly, Meeka shared that she helped "students learn how to effectively identify and communicate their needs, manage their time and fulfill their responsibilities." Felicia encouraged young mothers to regularly meet with their guidance counselors because this could help them understand and keep pace with their academic responsibilities. Felicia and Mark both mentioned helping students develop financial literacy and budgeting skills, fostering financial responsibility. Overall, by facilitating a sense of responsibility and autonomy among young mothers, school social workers might help young mothers improve their sense of self-sufficiency, boosting their confidence, motivation, and academic outcomes.

Improving self-perceptions. Participants also helped young mothers improve their overall self-perceptions and personal orientations. For example, Meeka and Natalie both worked to foster positive future orientations among young mothers. Meeka had "conversations with students are around how their academic success impacts their ability to provide the best future for their child," while Natalie helped young mothers "weigh the pros and cons of finishing school, and help them look ahead to the future." Because mental health is essential to healthy self-perceptions, participants also discussed the importance of checking up on young mothers' emotional and mental states, and employing strategies to foster a sense of resilience. Natalie believed the counseling she provided helped young mothers deal with social and emotional turmoil, while Mark focused on instilling a sense of resilience and perseverance "to protect against feelings for depression." Also, by providing life advice, participants were able to serve as coaches and encouragers to young mothers, which could help to bolster their self-perceptions.

Home Visits

Home visits are visitations conducted by school social workers to follow up on the needs and progress of young mothers. Although research indicates that home visits may help school social workers better assist young mothers, none of the participants in this study utilized them. When asked to describe the ways they used home visitation to help young mothers continue their education, Meeka shared that she had never conducted home visits. Natalie explained that home visits were not part of her current practice.

Tracey and Mike both admitted to not conducting home visits. While Felicia agreed that "home visits can improve the academic persistence of young mothers," she shared "I have not personally done any." Mark also felt that "home visits would be great," but explained, "I don't do them, it's just not something the school has set in place."

Summary

The aim of this study was to explore the social support strategies that high school social workers employed to foster academic persistence among young mothers. Data collected from two focus groups consisting, totaling six participants, shed light on a number of ways that school social workers are essential to fostering academic success among young mothers. Six themes emerged from the analysis, revealing fundamental strategies used by school social workers to improve the academic outcomes for young mothers: (a) childcare assistance, (b) fostering positive educational outcomes, (c) meeting basic needs, (d) providing information, support, and resources, (e) fostering positive change, and (f) home visits. A total of eight subthemes emerged: (a) overcoming barriers, (b) collaboration with teachers/guidance counselors, (c) financial assistance, (d) essential requirements, (e) information and support, (f) resources, (g) improving self-sufficiency, and (h) improving self-perceptions.

Overall, participating social workers emphasized the importance of connecting young mothers with the resources and services they needed, not only for school, but also

for their personal lives. If young mothers' basic needs for food, shelter, clothing, transportation, and healthcare are not met, it may be unreasonable to expect them to stay in school, maintain a high attendance rate, excel, and graduate. Thus, the first line of action taken by school social workers was to help young mothers obtain the help they needed to meet basic needs; this was done in a number of ways, such as connecting them with programs, helping them fill out applications for government assistance, assisting with job applications, referring them to free childcare services, and connecting them with sources of transportation sources, food banks, charities.

In addition to ensuring their basic needs were met, participants also provided social and emotional support, either directly (through counseling) or indirectly (by connecting young mothers with resources such as parenting programs). Participants also worked to foster positive change in young mothers, helping them develop a sense of autonomy, self-sufficiency, and personal responsibility. They tried to orient young mothers to the future, teaching them to make decisions based on long-term implications and instilling a sense of hope for the future.

In terms of the ways participants directly worked to improve academic outcomes, participating school social workers described fostering relationships between young mothers and their teachers, creating collaborative partnerships with teachers and guidance counselors, referring young mothers to tutoring services, and arranging more flexible

educational options, such as in-home instruction. Surprisingly, none of the participants in this study conducted home visits with young mothers.

This section provided an in-depth review of study results. Section 4 contains a discussion of these findings, particularly how they may be applied to professional ethics in the social work discipline. Recommendations for social work practice are provided, as is a discussion of implications for social change. The project concludes with my reflection and final message.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

The purpose of this qualitative action research study was to explore the social support strategies that high school social workers employed to foster academic persistence among young mothers between the ages of 15 and 19. Data were collected via two focus groups which consisted of a total of six participants. Participating social workers were employed in two high schools in an urban New Jersey school district.

The following essential question guided this investigation: What social support strategies do high school social workers employ to improve academic persistence among young mothers? The following six themes emerged from the analysis, revealing fundamental strategies used by school social workers to improve academic outcomes for young mothers: (a) childcare assistance, (b) fostering positive educational outcomes, (c) meeting basic needs, (d) providing information, support, and resources, (e) fostering positive change, and (f) home visits. A total of eight subthemes emerged: (a) overcoming barriers, (b) collaboration with teachers/guidance counselors, (c) financial assistance, (d) essential requirements, (e) information and support, (f) resources, (g) improving self-sufficiency, and (h) improving self-perceptions.

Participants emphasized the importance of connecting young mothers with the resources and services they needed, not only for school, but also for their personal lives. In addition to ensuring young mothers' basic needs were met, participants also provided social and emotional support, either directly (through counseling) or indirectly (by

connecting young mothers with resources such as parenting programs). Regarding academic outcomes, participants worked to foster positive change in young mothers, helping them develop a sense of autonomy, self-sufficiency, and personal responsibility. Participants also fostered relationships between young mothers and their teachers, creating collaborative partnerships with teachers and guidance counselors, referring young mothers to tutoring services, and arranging more flexible educational options, such as in-home instruction.

Findings from this study contribute new knowledge to the discipline of social work that may be used to improve school social workers' abilities to help young mothers remain in high school. Prior to this study, scant research existed on the professional strategies used by school social workers to help young mothers. The current project explains effective strategies leveraged by these professionals, as well as gaps in practice that may be addressed to improve the assistance provided to young mothers.

Understanding the strategies that high school social workers employ to foster academic persistence among young mothers is essential to improving long-term outcomes for young mothers and their children.

The final section of this capstone project provides a discussion of study results, how these results advance knowledge, and how they may be applied to professional practice. The section begins with a discussion of how results may be applied to the professional ethics of social work practice. Next, professional recommendations for

school social workers are provided. Important implications for social change are discussed, and the section closes with concluding sentiments.

Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice

The current study was guided by the following three ethical principles outlined in the NASW Code of Ethics. A discussion of how findings from the current study may be applied to each of these principles is provided. The aim of this study was to ultimately address the pressing social issue of poor academic persistence among young mothers, which is a social problem. Young mothers are often financially stressed and possess inadequate social support (Boggs & Duncan, 2014); this lack of support impedes academic persistence. The social and economic costs of young motherhood are pervasive, often leading to high school dropout rates and poverty for these young women (Watson & Vogel, 2017).

According to the CDC (2015), school social workers can help improve the academic outcomes of young mothers. Findings from this study revealed five main ways that school social workers fostered academic success among this population. The five categories of strategies were: (a) providing access to childcare assistance, (b) fostering positive educational outcomes, (c) helping to ensure mothers' basic needs were met, (d) providing young mothers with information, support, and resources, and (e) fostering positive changes in young mothers' lives. Overall, findings from this study revealed a number of ways that school social workers intentionally worked to help young mothers

succeed in school; these strategies may be adopted in professional practice to help young mothers throughout the country.

As stated by Dulmus (2012), a primary professional responsibility of social workers is to restore social functioning and promote social justice among members of society. Young mothers are often considered a disadvantaged or marginalized population. To prevent social injustice, they should be provided with the support they need to achieve desired outcomes, such as obtaining an education and raising healthy children. According to the ACLU (2014), young mothers often drop out of high school because of impractical and unaccommodating high school rules and schedules. One of the ways that social workers in the current study helped improve young mothers' academic outcomes was to provide them with more flexible schooling options, such as home instruction or night school opportunities.

Given punitive stances toward young mothers and welfare reform that has reduced the assistance available to them (Tach & Edin, 2017), school social workers can also address injustices by helping young mothers access the resources they need to thrive and succeed. In the current study, social workers did this by connecting young mothers with resources that could provide financial assistance (such as government assistance or securing after-school jobs), basic needs (such as food, healthcare, transportation, and clothing), and other resources required to foster academic success (such as childcare and support groups). Findings from the current project suggest that school social workers

employed in schools throughout the country may leverage flexible school options and the provision of key resources to help young mothers, thereby addressing social injustices related to inequities faced by this population.

The focus of this investigation was the social support strategies that school social workers employed to help young mothers persist academically. Collaborative relationships between social workers, young mothers, family members, and other community members are essential to the provision of this support. In the current study, school social workers personally fostered relationships with young mothers, and they also worked to nurture relationships between young mothers, teachers, and guidance counselors. Developing these relationships helped to create a support and accountability team for each young mother. Findings suggest that the development of these relationships may be a valuable strategy that all school social workers could leverage to improve outcomes for young mothers.

Recommendations for Social Work Practice

Practical Recommendations

Findings from this study revealed a number of valuable ways that school social workers helped to improve the personal and academic outcomes of young mothers. In addition, findings revealed a gap in practical strategies that could signal an area for improvement. In this section, practical recommendations for school social workers are provided.

Childcare assistance. All focus group participants mentioned the importance of helping young mothers secure childcare assistance. Whether referring mothers to onsite daycare options at their schools, connecting them with outside programs that provided free daycare, or helping them secure funding for daycare in other ways, all participants endeavored to help young mothers access the childcare they needed. Participants acknowledged that access to childcare was integral to young mothers' educational success; if they cannot obtain childcare, young mothers are less likely to be able to attend school and graduate on time.

Accordingly, an important practical recommendation for school social workers is to make sure that young mothers have access to childcare. Following examples given by participants in the current study, school social workers should endeavor to connect young mothers with outside childcare options when onsite care is not available. For schools that provide onsite daycare, school social workers should make sure young mothers understand the eligibility requirements (such as maintaining a certain GPA or attendance record). By ensuring that young mothers have access to free or affordable daycare, school social workers can eliminate a major hurdle to academic persistence and improve success for this population.

Fostering positive educational outcomes. Another practical recommendation to emerge from this study is for school social workers to intentionally focus on fostering positive educational outcomes for young mothers. Two ways that participants did this

was by helping mothers overcome barriers and developing collaborative relationships with teachers and guidance counselors. Based on examples from the current project, school social workers may help young mothers overcome barriers by providing them with flexible schooling options, connecting them with tutors, and following up on their attendance records and academic progress (that is, holding young mothers accountable for their own academic success).

Another way that school social workers can help young mothers overcome barriers is by fostering relationships between young mothers, teachers, and guidance counselors. These relationships help develop a school-based support team that not only helps to provide young mothers with the assistance they need, but also keeps tabs on their performance to ensure young mothers do not fall through the cracks. This type of academic support team could also provide young mothers with a sense of social support and encouragement that could foster educational attainment. Thus, school social workers should actively engage with teachers, social workers, and young mothers to foster communication and accountability while improving mothers' sense of support.

Meeting young mothers' basic needs. Similar to the emphasis placed on ensuring young mothers had access to childcare, results from this project indicated another practical strategy that school social workers should employ is to make sure young mothers' financial and basic needs are met. Without basic resources (such as money, food, clothing, shelter, and transportation), young mothers may be unable to focus on

school or dedicate time to education. Thus, school social workers should connect young mothers with resources required to meet these basic needs, as education is secondary to survival resources, such as food and shelter. Some of the ways that school social workers may help young mothers with their basic needs include: (a) help them secure jobs, (b) help them obtain government assistance (such as WIC, Medicaid, food stamps, or Section 8), (c) connect them with programs that provide free healthcare to mothers and babies, (d) provide them with transportation vouchers, or (e) refer them to food banks, housing assistance, or charitable organizations that help disadvantaged populations.

Providing information, support, and resources. Perhaps the most salient practical recommendation to emerge from the current project is for school social workers to provide young mothers with information, support, and resources they need for their personal and academic success. Many participants in this project viewed the provision of information and support as essential to their professional roles. Further, all participants felt professionally responsible for referring young mothers to the academic and personal resources they needed to stay in school and excel.

Often, participating school social workers did not directly provide young mothers with essential resources; rather, they educated them and helped them access available resources. In this way, an important practical recommendation for school social workers who engage with young mothers is to remember that an essential part of their role is to research available resources, educate young mothers about them, and then help them

access those resources. For example, school social workers should stay abreast of any changes in policies related to government assistance, as well as new programs or organizations that may offer help to young mothers. It is also essential that school social workers not only teach young mothers about the resources available to them, but also that they help young mothers access those resources. Young mothers often feel overwhelmed and unsupported, and by stepping in and guiding them through the processes of obtaining the support they need, school social workers may make profound differences in the lives of young mothers.

Fostering positive change. School social workers should also work to foster positive change for young mothers. The main ways that participants in the current study did this was by nurturing young mothers' sense of self-sufficiency, teaching them to take personal responsibility, and helping to improve their self-perceptions. Improving young mothers' sense of self-sufficiency was viewed by participants as essential to their academic progress and personal success. Participants also helped young mothers improve their overall self-perceptions and personal orientations, which they believed could increase mothers' self-esteem, resilience, and confidence.

Based on examples from the current project, school social workers may foster young mothers' self-sufficiency and sense of responsibility by referring them to educational support groups, providing counseling and life skills, encouraging young mothers to take initiative in their own education, and teaching them how to identify and

communicate their needs. By facilitating a sense of responsibility and autonomy among young mothers, school social workers might help them improve their sense of self-sufficiency, boosting their confidence, motivation, and academic outcomes.

It may also be valuable for school social workers to work with young mothers to improve their self-perceptions. Some of the ways they may do this is by helping to create future-oriented perspectives among young mothers, providing them with counseling to help them cope with the social and emotional challenges of young motherhood, and assessing their mental health. In addition, school social workers may provide young mothers with practical life advice, serving as coaches and encouragers, which may help bolster their self-perceptions.

Conducting home visits. A final practical recommendation to emerge from this project is based on an important strategy that none of the participants leveraged: conducting home visits. Although home visitation can be valuable for young mothers (Barnet et al., 2007), this strategy was not utilized by school social workers in this project. Although I did not follow up to ask why home visits were not conducted, participants' responses during the focus groups indicated that their employing schools did not have home visitation strategies or policies. Thus, it may be necessary for schools to develop and implement home visitation policies for school social workers, while also providing them with the time and resources to conduct home visits. Home visits could

provide school social workers with new opportunities to help young mothers, meeting them where they are rather than forcing young mothers to come to them for help.

Application to the Researcher's Personal Practice

Although I am not a school social worker, findings from the current project may certainly be applied to my professional practice as a psychotherapist. Because I often work with teenagers and young mothers, I may be able to apply the strategies from this project to help my clients. Importantly, as emphasized by findings in this project, I will pay closer attention to ways I can help young mothers locate and access resources to meet their personal and educational needs.

Application to Broader Policies

Because teen pregnancy is a persistent social problem in the United States, findings from the current project provide useful hints about the ways revisions to broader policies may provide better help to young mothers at risk for academic failure and dropout. Overall, the assistance provided to young mothers must be comprehensive and dynamic. It is important to understand that young mothers have a number of pressing needs that must be simultaneously met in order to optimize their personal and academic outcomes. For example, if young mothers are required to maintain a strong attendance record to be eligible for certain resources, it is critical to ensure that they have access to free childcare so they are able to attend school. Similarly, one cannot expect a young mother to prioritize her education if she is at risk of becoming homeless or is unable to

provide food for herself or her child; thus, policies must acknowledge that young mothers' basic needs must be met before they can be expected to attend school regularly and maintain passing GPAs. Resources should not be withheld or provided in silos; instead, young mothers need access to comprehensive programs that help them learn about and access all the resources they need to succeed, at once.

Because none of the participants in the current project conducted home visits, this is another area where policy revisions may be needed. Home visitation can provide school social workers with valuable opportunities to better understand young mothers' social, emotional, financial, and psychological needs, while also fostering close, trusting relationships. Current policies may prohibit home visits due to inadequate financial or staff resources. However, because home visits have the potential to be very valuable, changes should be made that allow school social workers to take advantage of this strategy.

Limitations

The current project was subject to limitations. First, data were collected from two small focus groups consisting of six school social workers employed at two high schools. The small sample and qualitative nature of this study precludes generalization of findings; however, generalizability was not a goal of this study. A larger study consisting of more focus groups, or a larger focus group with more participants, may have fostered greater discussion and interaction, resulting in richer data. The scope of the study was

limited to school social workers employed at two high schools in the same geographic region. It is possible that school social workers employed in other school districts and regions may have different strategies for fostering academic persistence among young mothers. As admitted at the beginning of Section 3, I also experienced some difficulties securing the sample for this study. Although I originally intended to secure a sample of seven participants, one individual did not show up for the first focus group, reducing my total sample size to six. Fortunately, saturation was still indicated with data from the six participants, so this limitation was accepted.

The time of data collection also created a minor limitation for this project.

Because I collected data during the summer months – when school is not in session – school social workers may have shared slightly different perspectives and experiences than if I had conducted the focus groups in the middle of the school year. That is, it is possible that participants may have felt somewhat removed from the topic of academic persistence among young mothers during the summer months, which provide a brief vacation from their professional responsibilities.

Admittedly, qualitative data from sources such as focus groups is always subject to the perspectives and information that participants choose to share. Although I protected the identities of all participants (as well as the schools they worked for), it is possible that participants may have reported using strategies more often than they actually did. I believe that the nature of focus groups helps to prevent this. Especially

because all of the participants in each group were co-workers, it seems that participants would feel more accountable for their answers and likely to keep their responses truthful. However, this is an inevitable shortcoming of interview and focus group data that should be acknowledged.

Recommendations for Future Research

Findings from this study indicate opportunities for future research on the roles that social workers play in improving the academic outcomes of young mothers. Because the current project only included a small group of school social workers employed at two high schools in the same district, future researchers may replicate the current investigation with larger focus groups. It is possible that bigger focus groups consisting of more school social workers would spark greater conversation and reveal additional insights about the strategies employed to help young mothers. Similarly, future researchers may expand upon the scope of the current project by replicating this project in other school that are located in other parts of the country. The incidence of teen pregnancy varies by geographic region, so school social workers in other regions may have different experiences and strategies to share.

Because participants in the current study did not conduct home visits, future researchers may specifically examine the issue of home visitation. Researchers could conduct a nationwide survey to explore how often school social workers conduct home

visits with young mothers. In addition, researchers could examine the barriers that exist to home visits and how those barriers may be overcome.

Finally, future research is required to understand the needs of young mothers, from their perspectives. Scholars could conduct interviews with young mothers to understand their perspectives of personal and academic needs. Such an investigation may shed light on any discrepancies that exist in the needs that school social workers emphasize and address, and the needs that young mothers actually experience and express.

Recommendations for Dissemination of Findings

It is important that findings from this study be disseminated to the stakeholders who may find them useful, including school social workers and educational policymakers. To share findings with school social workers, I intend to develop a *brief* that highlights the project's purpose, findings, and practical recommendations. This document will be kept short (two to three pages), as I recognize that school social workers have limited spare time. I will share the brief with principals at high schools in the study site district and encourage them to pass those findings along to their school social workers. I would also like to write an article that shares findings and recommendations from this project, and have it published it a professional trade magazine for school social workers and psychologists.

As for policymakers, I intend to convert this project into a white paper that can be shared with educational leaders and policymakers. I will share the white paper with appropriate professionals (such as leaders at the New Jersey Department of Education). I would also like to disseminate this white paper to superintendents throughout the state, to help spread recommendations for school social workers that emerged from this study. Importantly, I believe that developing and disseminating a white paper has the potential to be a powerful tool for addressing the needs of young mothers, who are often marginalized in this society. It is important that their needs are met, and for school social workers to be provided with the freedom and resources they need to help young mothers. Findings from this study also emphasize the cumulative challenges faced by young mothers, which may help policymakers understand that helping this population requires comprehensive and dynamic interventions.

Implications for Social Change

Findings from the current project have a number of valuable social change implications. These implications can be applied at different societal levels, in practice, and in research. A discussion of these implications appears as follows.

Micro/Macro Levels

Social change implications of this study exist at multiple levels. At the micro level, recommendations could be applied to improve the lives of young mothers at individual high schools. At this level, strategies applied to help individual mothers may

also benefit their children and families. When young mothers persist and complete high school, far more opportunities exist for them – whether those opportunities open doors to college, technical training, or careers that require a high school diploma. As a result of these increased opportunities, young mothers may enjoy better long-term outcomes, in terms of their quality of life and professional accomplishments. The children of young mothers may also benefit when their mothers persist academically, not only because of the improved standard of living the mother will be able to provide, but also through the positive role model their mother becomes, as a young woman who was able to overcome substantial challenges and complete her education.

At the macro level, strategies that help young mothers persist through high school also have significant social change implications. Because young mothers often require government assistance, those who do not complete high school are less likely to earn a livable wage and become independent of public assistance. Education creates professional opportunities to earn a better living, independent of financial assistance. In addition, at the societal level, young mothers who finish high school and are able to persist into further education or career opportunities, and become economic contributors and taxpayers.

Practice

Findings from this study provide a number of practical ways that school social workers may improve the assistance they provide to young mothers. As previously

mentioned, these areas of recommendation include (a) providing childcare assistance, (b) fostering positive educational outcomes, (c) ensuring that the basic needs of young mothers are met, (d) providing young mothers with information, support, and resources, (e) fostering positive changes, and (f) conducting home visits. Importantly, focus group participants emphasized simultaneously addressing the many needs that young mothers experience. Thus, the practical strategies to emerge from this investigation should be implemented simultaneously, not in silos.

Research

While a number of recommendations for future research emerged from the current project, one of the most salient practical implications for research is simply that more research on this topic is needed. This project highlighted the lack of research on the ways school social workers may help young mothers succeed, despite their very central roles in the lives of these young women. Thus, future research on best practices with young mothers may be used to help these professionals improve the assistance they provide to this population.

Summary

Young mothers often struggle to continue their education after childbirth (Nissen, 2014). They often lack resources needed to continue schooling, which can prompt them to drop out of high school (SmithBattle et al., 2017). Social workers are responsible for extending educational opportunities to everyone, with special regard for vulnerable

populations such as young mothers (Jansson, 2014). An effective program for improving academic persistence among this population may involve high school social workers providing young mothers with support and resources necessary to remain in high school (Akella & Jordan, 2014). However, prior to the current investigation, little scholarship existed on the strategies employed by school social workers to help young mothers.

Accordingly, the purpose of this action research study was to explore the social support strategies that high school social workers employed to foster academic persistence among young mothers. Six themes emerged from analysis of two focus groups with school social workers, revealing fundamental strategies used by these professionals to improve academic outcomes for young mothers. These strategies included: (a) childcare assistance, (b) fostering positive educational outcomes, (c) meeting basic needs, (d) providing information, support, and resources, (e) fostering positive change, and (f) home visits. Overall, participants in this project were eager to help young mothers and emphasized the importance of simultaneously addressing the many needs that young mothers experience.

Young mothers face major social, economic, emotional, and even physical challenges that can create barriers to completing high school. Interventions aimed at helping this population should be comprehensive. If one need is unmet, others can be affected, creating a domino effect that impedes the academic progress of young mothers. Thus, the practical strategies to emerge from this investigation should be implemented

simultaneously, not in silos. From individual school social workers' interactions with single young mothers to policy-level decisions regarding government assistance and resources available to these mothers, strategies designed to help these girls must be comprehensive.

Regarding the specific roles of school social workers, an essential message is that districts must provide these professionals with the resources and autonomy needed to best assist young mothers. More schools should consider programs that provide on-site daycare and incentives that encourage young mothers to persist academically. School social workers can be an incredibly valuable resource for young mothers; however, in order for them to best perform their duties, they must be provided with all the tools they need.

References

- Akella, D., & Jordan, M. (2014). Impact of social and cultural factors on teenage pregnancy. *Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice*, 8(1), 3.

 Retrieved from https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/jhdrp/
- Akella, D., Jordan, M. (2015). Impact of social and cultural factors on teen pregnancy. *Journal of Health Disparities Research*, 8(1), 41-62.
- American Civil Liberties Union. (2014). High schools: Don't show the door to pregnant students, make them feel comfortable. Retrieved from http://www.acluwa.org/blog/high schools-don-t-show-door-pregnant-students-make-them-feel-welcome#
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of findings in qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, *5*(2), 272-281. Retrieved from http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.com/
- Barbee, A. P., Cunningham, M. R., van Zyl, M. A., Antle, B. F., & Langley, C. N. (2016). Impact of two adolescent pregnancy prevention interventions on risky sexual behavior: A three-arm cluster randomized control trial. *American Journal of Public Health*, 106(S1), S85–S90. doi:10.2105/ajph.2016.303429
- Barber, J. S., & East, P. L. (2014). High educational aspirations among pregnant

- adolescents are related to pregnancy unwantedness and subsequent parenting stress and inadequacy. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 76(3), 652–664. doi:10.1111/jomf.12103
- Barnet, B., Liu, J., DeVoe, M., Alperovitz-Bichell, K., & Duggan, A. K. (2007). Home visiting for adolescent mothers: Effects on parenting, maternal life course, and primary care linkage. *Annals of Family Medicine*, *5*(3), 224-232. doi:10.1370/afm.629
- Bitsch, V. (2005). Qualitative research: A grounded theory example and evaluation criteria. *Journal of Agribusiness*, 23(1), 75-91. Retrieved from http://www.caes.uga.edu/departments/ag-econ/journal-of-agribusiness.html
- Boggs, G., & Duncan, M. E. (2014). Improving college access and success by confronting unplanned pregnancy. *Leadership Abstracts*, 27(2). Retrieved from http://www.league.org/
- Bonell, C. (2004). Why is teenage pregnancy conceptualized as a social problem? A review of quantitative research from the USA and UK. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 6*(3), 255-272. doi:10.1080/13691050310001643025
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Bree, R., & Gallagher, G. (2016). Using Microsoft Excel to code and thematically

- analyze qualitative data: A simple, cost-effective approach. *All Ireland Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 8(2), 2811-2814. Retrieved from http://ojs.aishe.org
- Brown, J. D., Harris, S. K., Woods, E. R., Buman, M. P., & Cox, J. E. (2012).

 Longitudinal study of depressive symptoms and social support in adolescent mothers. *Maternal Child Health Journal*, *16*(4), 894-901. doi:10.1007/s10995-011-0814-9
- Butler-Barnes, S. T., Varner, F., Williams, A., & Sellers, R. (2016). Academic identity: A longitudinal investigation of African American adolescents' academic persistence. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 43(7), 714–739. doi:10.1177/0095798416683170
- Bye, L., Shepard, M., Partridge, J., & Alvarez, M. (2009). High school social work outcomes: Perspectives of high school social workers and high school administrators. *Children & High schools*, 31(2), 97-108. doi:10.1093/cs/31.2.97
- Cavazos-Rehg, P. A. (2012). Associations between sexuality education in high schools and adolescent birthrates. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 166(2), 134. doi:10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.657
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2015). Name of web site?. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov
- Chandra-Mouli, V., McCarraher, D. R., Phillips, S. J., Williamson, N. E., & Hainsworth,

- G. (2014). Contraception for adolescents in low and middle income countries: needs, barriers, and access. *Reproductive Health*, 11(1), 1-8. doi:10.1186/1742-4755-11-1
- Colvin, M. (2007). Applying differential coercion and social support theory to prison organizations. *The Prison Journal*, 87(3), 367–387. doi:10.1177/0032885507304774
- Constable, R. (2016). The role of the high school social worker. In C. Massat, M. Kelly, & R. Constable (Eds.), *High school social work practice, policy, and research* (8th ed., pp. 3–24). Chicago, IL: Lyceum Books.
- Cooper, K. (2016). High school social workers' perceptions of barriers to practice:

 Action research study. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest

 Dissertation and Theses (UMI No. 10182467).
- County Health Rankings. (2018). Teen births. Retrieved from http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/app/new-jersey/2018/measure/factors/14/map
- Coyle, K., Basen-Engquist, K., Kirby, D., Parcel, G., Banspach, S., Collins, J., ... Harrist, R. (2001). Safer choices: Reducing teen pregnancy, HIV, and STDs. *Public Health Reports*, *116*(1 suppl), 82–93. doi:10.1093/phr/116.s1.82
- Coyle, K. K., Glassman, & J. R. (2016). Exploring alternative outcome measures to

- improve pregnancy prevention programming in younger adolescents. *American Journal of Public Health*, 106(1), S20–S22. doi:10.2105/ajph.2016.303383
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology nursing forum 41*(1), 89-91. doi:10.1188/14.onf.89-91
- Cyr, J. (2016). The pitfalls and promise of focus groups as a data collection method. Sociological Methods & Research, 45(2), 1-40. doi:10.1177/0049124115570065
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Cullen, F. T. (1994). Social support as an organizing concept for criminology:

 Presidential address to the academy of criminal justice sciences. *Justice Quarterly*, 11(4), 527–559. doi:10.1080/07418829400092421
- D'Agostino, C. (2013). Collaboration as an essential high school social work skill.

 *Children & High schools, 35(4), 248-251. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/cs
- Dale, O., & Smith, N. (2013). *Human behavior and the social environment: Social systems theory*. Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Denzin, N. & Lincoln, Y. (Eds.). (2011). SAGE handbook of qualitative research (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Domenico, D. M., & Jones, K. H. (2007) Adolescent pregnancy in America: Causes and

- responses. *Journal for Vocational Special Needs Education, 30*, 4-12. Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/j/ISSN-0195-7597/
- Dumas, S. A., & Terrell, I. W. (2017). A qualitative exploration of challenges and unmet needs of teen mothers. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 60(2), S97. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.10.371
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *41*(6), 1319-1320 Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10508-012-0016-6
- Farb, A. F., Margolis, T.M., Rice, J.A.G. Jensen (2014). Implementing evidence-based teen pregnancy prevention programs: Legislation to practice. *Journal for Adolescent Health*. *54*, S1-S96. Retrieved from https://www.jahonline.org/
- Farber, N. (Ed.). (2016). Adolescent pregnancy: Past, present and future trends and issues. Basel, Switzerland: Shu-Kun Lin.
- Filner, L. B., & Zolna, M. R. (2014). Shifts in intended and unintended pregnancies in the United States, 2001-2008. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(S1), S43-S48. Retrieved from https://ajph.aphapublications.org/
- Francis, J., Johnston, M., Robertson, C., Glidewell, L., Entwistle, V., Eccles, M. P., & Grimshaw, J. M. (2010). What is an adequate sample size? Operationalizing data saturation for theory-based interview studies. *Psychology & Health*, *25*(10), 1229-1245. doi:10.1080/08870440903194015

- Ganchimeg, T., Ota, E., Morisaki, N., Laopaiboon, M., Lumbiganon, P., ... Zhang, J. (2014). Pregnancy and childbirth outcomes among adolescent mothers: A World Health Organization multicountry study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 121*, 40–48. doi:10.1111/1471-0528.12630
- Goldkind, L. (2011). A leadership opportunity for high school social workers: Bridging the gaps in high school reentry for juvenile justice system youths. *Children & High schools*, 33(4), 229-239. doi:10.1093/cs/33.4.229
- Goodman, M., Onwumere, O., Milam, L., & Peipert, J. F. (2017). Reducing health disparities by removing cost, access, and knowledge barriers. *Obstetrical & Gynecological Survey*, 72(6), 342–343. doi:10.1097/ogx.00000000000000445
- Guarino, B. (2016). Study: Robot baby dolls don't curb teen pregnancies. In fact, they may increase abortions. Retrieved from www.washingtonpost.com
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1982). Establishing dependability and confirmability in naturalistic inquiry through an audit. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New York, NY. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED216019.pdf
- Hamilton, B. E., Martin, J. A., Osterman, M. J. K., Curtin, S. C., & Mathews, T. J. (2015). Births: final data for 2014. National Vital Statistics Reports. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr64/nvsr64_06.pdf.
- Hamilton, B. E., & Mathews, T. J. (2016). Continued declines in teen births in the United

- States, 2015. NCHS Data Brief, 259, 1-8. Retrieved from www.cdc.gov
- Hepworth, D. H., Rooney, R. H., Rooney, G. D., & Strom-Gottfried, K. (2016).

 Empowerment series: Direct social work practice: Theory and skills (10th ed.).

 Belmont, CA: Nelson Education
- Hereford, B. J. (2008). Evaluation of the GRADS Program at Elko High High school. *Health*, 66(3), 112-118.
- Hernandez, J., & Abu Rabia, H. M. (2017). Contributing factors to older teen mothers' academic success as very young mothers. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 6(4), 104. doi:10.5430/ijhe.v6n4p104
- Jenner, E., Jenner, L.W., Walsh, S., Demby, H., Gregory, A., & Davis, E. (2016).

 Adolescent pregnancy prevention programs and research: A time to revisit theory.

 American Journal of Public Health, 106(1), S28–S29.

 doi:10.2105/ajph.2016.303333
- Jumba L. K., Chang'ach, J. K., & Githinji, F. (2018). High school factors which enhance the high schooling of teen mothers in secondary high school in Kenya: A case of Trans-Nzoia West Sub-County. *Journal of Arts and Social Sciences*, 3(1), 1-9.

 Retrieved from http://www.lcwujass.com/
- Kalil, A. (2002). Perceptions of the high school psychological environment in predicting adolescent mothers' educational expectations. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 17(6), 555-567. doi:10.1177/074355802237463

- Kitto, K. (2014). A contextualized general systems theory. *Systems*, 2(4), 541-565. doi:10.3390/systems2040541
- Kost, K, Henshaw, S, & Carlin, L. (2010). US teenage pregnancies, births and abortions:

 National and state trends and trends by race and ethnicity, 2010. New York, NY:

 Guttmacher Institute.
- Kost, K., & Henshaw, S. (2014). *U.S. teenage pregnancies, births and abortions, 2010:*National trends by age, race and ethnicity: Guttmacher Institute. Retrieved from http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/USTPtrends10.pdf
- Kraft, J. M., Kulkarni, A., Hsia, J., Jamieson, D. J., & Warner L. (2012). Sex education and adolescent sexual behavior: Do community characteristics matter?
 Contraception, 8(6), 276–80. Retrieved from
 https://www.contraceptionjournal.org/
- Kramer J., Rubin, A., & Lachowicz, M. (2014). Strategies to address participant misrepresentation for eligibility in web-based research. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 23(1), 120-129. doi:10.1002/mpr.1415
- Lacasse, J. R., & Gambrill, E. (2015). Making assessment decisions: macro, mezzo, and micro perspectives. Critical thinking in clinical diagnosis and assessment. New York, NY: Springer.
- Leplatte, D., Rosenblum, K. L., Stanton, E., Miller, N., & Muzik, M. (2012). Mental

- health in primary care for adolescent parents. *Mental Health Family Medicine*. 9(1), 39-45. Retrieved from http://www.mhfmjournal.com/
- Letourneau, N., Stewart, M., & Barnfather, A. (2004). Adolescent mothers: Support needs, resources, and support-education interventions. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 35(6), 509–525. doi:10.1016/s1054-139x(04)00069-2
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Lindberg, L., Santelli, J., & Desai, S. (2016). Understanding the decline in adolescent fertility in the United States, 2007–2012. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 59(5), 577-583. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.06.024
- Linton, K. F., & Adams Rueda, H. (2014). Experiences with pregnancy of adolescents with disabilities from the perspectives of the high school social workers who serve them. *Health & Social Work*, 39(2), 92–100. doi:10.1093/hsw/hlu010
- MacColl, I., Cooper, R., Rittenbruch, M., & Viller, S. (2005). *Watching ourselves*watching: Ethical issues in ethnographic action research. Proceedings of OZCHI

 2005, Canberra, Australia. November 23 25, 2005.
- Mangino, J. G. (2008). *Voices of teen mothers: Their challenges, support systems, and successes* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://d-scholarship.pitt.edu/7427/1/manginojg etdPitt.May2008 final.pdf
- Martin J. A., & Hamilton B. E., Osterman, M. J. K. (2015). *Births: Final data for 2014*.

 Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr64/nvsr64_12.pdf.

- Martin, J. A, Hamilton, B. E., Osterman, M. J. K., Discoll, A. K., & Mathews, M. S. (2017). *Births: Final data for 2015*. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5049475
- McCullough, B.D. & Heiser, D.A. (2008). On the accuracy of statistical procedures in Microsoft Excel 2007. *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis*, *52*(10), 4570-4578. doi:10.1016/j.csda.2008.03.004
- Mele, C., Pels, J., & Polese, F. (2010). A brief review of systems theories and their managerial applications. *Service Science*, 2(1-2), 126-135. doi:10.1287/serv.2.1 2.126
- Meyer, D. Z., & Avery, L. M. (2008). Excel as a qualitative data analysis tool. *Field Methods*, 21(1), 91–112. doi:10.1177/1525822x08323985
- Michailakis, D., & Schirmer, W. (2014). Social work and social problems: A contribution from systems theory and constructionism. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 23(4), 431-442. doi:10.1111/ijsw.12091.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2013). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Mollborn, S. (2007). Making the best of a bad situation: Material resources and teenage parenthood. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 69(1), 92–104. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2006.00347.x
- Mollborn, S., & Jacobs, J. (2011). "We'll figure a way": Teenage mothers' experiences in

- shifting social and economic contexts. *Qualitative Sociology*, *35*(1), 23-46. doi:10.1007/s11133-011-9213-1.
- Moreau, M., & Kerner, C. (2012). Supporting student parents in higher education: A policy analysis. England: Nuffield Foundation.
- Morse, J. M. (1994). Designing funded qualitative research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mosher, W. D., Jones, J., & Abma, J. C. (2012). *Intended and unintended births in the United States: 1982-2010.* National Center for Health Statistics. Vital Health Stat (55).
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mueller, T., Tevendale, H. D., Fuller, T. R., House, L. D., Romero, L. M., Brittain, A., & Varanasi, B. (2017). Teen pregnancy prevention: Implementation of a multicomponent, community-wide approach. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 60(3), S9–S17. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.11.002
- Murphy, S. (2016). Supporting teen mothers in the classroom. Retrieved from https://works.bepress.com/stephanie-murphy/1/
- Nash, J. C. (2008). Teaching statistics with Excel 2007 and other spreadsheets.

 *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis, 52(10), 4602-4606.

 doi:10.1016/j.csda.2008.03.008
- National Association of Social Workers. (2008). Code of ethics of the National Association of Social Workers. Retrieved fromhttp://www.socialworkers.org/pubs/code/code.asp

- National Association of Social Workers. (2012). NASW standards for high school social work services. (2012). Washington, DC: NASW Press.
- National Campaign to Prevent Teen and Unplanned Pregnancy (2013). *Counting it up: The public costs of teen childbearing*. Retrieved from

 http://thenationalcampaign.org/why-it-matters/public-cost
- Nissen, M. A. (2013). In search for a sociology of social problems for social work.

 *Qualitative Social Work: Research and Practice, 13(4), 555–570.

 doi:10.1177/1473325013506928
- Norton, M., Chandra-Mouli, V., & Lane, C. (2017). Interventions for preventing unintended, rapid repeat pregnancy among adolescents: A review of the evidence and lessons from high-quality evaluations. *Global Health: Science and Practice*, 5(4), 547-570. doi:10.9745/GHSP-D-17-00131
- Olds, D. L., Henderson, C. R., Tatelbaum, R., & Chamberlin, R. (1988). Improving the life course of socially disadvantaged mothers: A randomized trial of nurse home visitation. *American Journal of Public Health*, 78(11), 146-1444. doi:10.2105/ajph.78.11.1436
- Patchen, L., LeTourneau, K., & Berggren, E. (2013). Evaluation of an integrated services program to prevent subsequent pregnancy and birth among urban teen mothers.

 *Social Work in Health Care, 52(7), 642-655. doi:10.1080/00981389.2013.797538.

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, 42 U.S.C. § 18001 et seq. (2010). Planned

- Parenthood. (n.d.) *History & Successes*. Retrieved from http://www.plannedparenthood.org/about-us/who-we-are/history-and-successes.html
- Penman-Aguilar, A., Carter, M., Snead, M. C., & Kourtis, A. P. (2013). Socioeconomic disadvantage as a social determinant of teen childbearing in the U.S. *Public Health Reports*, 128(2 suppl1), 5–22. doi:10.1177/00333549131282s102
- Pesta, R. (2018). Labeling and the differential impact of high school discipline on negative life outcomes: Assessing ethno-racial variation in the high school-to-prison pipeline. *Crime & Delinquency*, 64(11), 1489–1512. doi:10.1177/0011128717749223
- Ricks, N. (2016). The strengths perspective: providing opportunities for teen parents and their families to succeed. *Journal of Family Strengths*, *15*(1), 454-461. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/jfs/
- Ritchie, J. & Lewis. J. (eds.) (2003). *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers*. London: Sage Publications.
- Ripple, R. P. (1994). Intergenerational education: Breaking the downward achievement spiral of teen mothers. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 67(3), 143–145. doi:10.1080/00098655.1994.9956045
- Sale, J. M., Lohfeld, L., & Brazil, K. (2002). Revisiting the quantitative-qualitative

- debate: Implications for mixed-methods research. *Quality and Quantity, 36*(1), 43-53. doi:10.1023/A:1014301607592
- Schaefer, C., Coyne, J. C., & Lazarus, R. S. (1981). The health-related functions of social support. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *4*(4), 381-406. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/journal/10865
- Secco, M. L., & Moffatt, M. E. K. (1994). A review of social support theories and instruments used in adolescent mothering research. *Journal of Adolescent Health,* 15, 517-527. Retrieved from https://www.jahonline.org/
- Secura, G., M., Madden, T., & Peipert, J., F. (2014). Provision of no-cost, long-acting contraception and teenage pregnancy. *The New England Journal of Medicine,* 371(14), 1316-23. doi:10.1056/nejmoa1400506

 http://search.proquest.com/docview/1567511606?accountid=14872
- Sedgh, G., Finer, L. B., Bankole, A., Eilers, M., A., & Singh, S. (2015). Adolescent pregnancy, birth and abortion rates across countries: Levels and recent trends. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 56(2), 223-230. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.09.007
- Seitz, V. (1999). Effective interventions for adolescent mothers. *Clinical Psychology:*Science and Practice, 6(1), 50–66. doi:10.1093/clipsy/6.1.50
- SmithBattle, L. (2007). "I wanna have a good future": Teen mothers' rise in educational

- aspirations, competing demands, and limited high school support. *Youth & Society*, 38(3), 348-371. doi:10.1177/0044118x06287962
- SmithBattle, L., & Freed, P. (2016). Teen mothers' mental health. *The American Journal of Maternal/Child Nursing*, 41(1), 31–36. doi:10.1097/nmc.0000000000000198
- SmithBattle, L., Loman, D. G., Chantamit-o-pas, C., & Schneider, J. K. (2017). An umbrella review of meta-analyses of interventions to improve maternal outcomes for teen mothers. *Journal of Adolescence*, *59*, 97–111. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.05.022
- Steinka-Fry, K. T., Wilson, S. J., & Tanner-Smith, E. E. (2013). Effects of high school dropout prevention programs for pregnant and parenting adolescents: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 4(4), 373-389. doi:10.5243/jsswr.2013.23
- Sniekers, M., & van den Brink, M. (2018). Navigating norms and structures: Young mothers' pathways to economic independence. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 1–18. doi:10.1080/13676261.2018.1492102
- Sosa, L. V., Cox, T., & Alvarez, M. (2017). *High school social work: National perspectives on practice in high schools.* New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Stephens, R. (2014). *Teenage pregnancy issues*. (Unpublished manuscript). Walden University.

- Stephens, R. (2015). *Needs assessment for teenage pregnancy*. (Unpublished manuscript). Walden University.
- Stringer, E. T. (2013). Action research (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Sue, C. (2016). *Trends in macro social work education*. Retrieved from http://www.socialworktoday.com/archive/032216p16.shtml
- Tach, L., & Edin, K. (2017). The social safety net after welfare reform: Recent developments and consequences for household dynamics. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 43(1), 541–561. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-060116-053300
- The National Campaign to Prevent Teen and Unplanned Pregnancy (2015). Retrieved from http://www.thenationalcampaign.org
- Tracy, S. (2013). Qualitative research methods. Malden, MA: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Turney, H. M., Conway, P., Plummer, P., Adkins, S. E., Hudson, G. C., McLeod, D. A., & Zafaroni, A. (2011). Exploring behavioral intentions among young mothers. *Journal of Family Social Work*, 14(4), 298-310. doi:10.1080/10522158.2011.588552
- Unger, D. G., & Wandersman, L. P. (1985). Social support and adolescent mothers:

 Action research contributions to theory and application. *Journal of Social Issues*,

 41(1), 29-45. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4560.1985.tb01115.x
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (1979). The Belmont Report: Ethical

- principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.
- Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Statistics Division. (2015)

 Demographic yearbook 2014. Table 10. Live births by age of mother and sex of child, general and age-specific fertility rates: Latest available year, 2005–2014.

 New York, NY: United Nations.
- United States Department of Education (n.d.). *Know your rights: Pregnant or parenting?*Title IX protects you from discrimination at high school. Retrieved on from https://www.2.ed.gov/about/reports/annual/ocr/report-to-president-and-secretary-of-education-2013-14.pdf
- Walsh, J. (2013). *Theories for direct social work practice* (3rd ed), Stamford, CT: Wadsworth/Cengage.
- Watson, L. L., & Vogel, L. R. (2017). Educational resiliency in teen mothers. *Cogent Education*, 4(1). doi:10.1080/2331186x.2016.1276009
- Watts, M. C., Liamputtong, P., & Mcmichael, C. (2015). Early motherhood: A qualitative study exploring the experiences of African Australian teenage mothers in greater Melbourne, Australia. *BMC Public Health*, *15*(1). doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2215-2
- Weed, K., Nicholson, J. S., & Farris, J. R. (2015). *Teen pregnancy and parenting rethinking the myths and misperceptions*. New York, NY: Routledge.

White, S. D., & Cummings, M. N. (1995). Goal setting and control orientation of pregnant/parenting female adolescents in the GRADS program. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 23(3), 249–267. doi:10.1177/1077727x95233002

Yalta, A. T. (2008). The accuracy of statistical distributions in Microsoft® Excel 2007.

*Computational Statistics & Data Analysis, 52(10), 4579-4586.

doi:10.1016/j.csda.2008.03.005

Yin, R. (2018). Case study research: Designs and Methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Appendix A: Study Invitation Email

Dear	,

My name is Rosetta Stephens and I am a doctoral student at Walden University. I am conducting a research study as part of my doctoral degree requirements. My study is entitled, Strategies Employed by High school Social Workers to Help Young Mothers Remain in High school. This is a letter of invitation to participate in this research study. The purpose of the study is to explore the strategies High School Social Workers can employ to assist young mothers with remaining in high school. The study's findings will lead to the specific information about how academic persistence among young mothers may be improved by providing them with resources needed to overcome common barriers associated with young motherhood.

In order to participate in this study you must be, (a) current high school social worker at one of the two selected high schools, (b) have earned a minimum of a master's degree in social work, (c) have at least 2 years of experience as a high school social worker, and (d) have experience working with young mothers. Your participation in this research study is strictly voluntary, and you may choose not to participate without fear of penalty or any negative consequences.

In advance, I thank you for your attention to this important matter. I look forward to

hearing from you.

If you decide to participate in this study, you will participate in a focus group. Please note

that the focus group is a group interview, in which other high school social workers from

your school will hear your responses. The focus group questions will address strategies to

academically support young mothers and educational barriers young mothers face while

in school.

The focus group session will be audiorecorded. Videorecording is not allowed during the

focus group session. There is a minor risk of other participants repeating what you say in

the focus group should you participate in the study. Participants will be informed that no

information from the focus group session should be shared with individuals outside of the

focus group. If you have any further questions about the study, please email or contact

me at

Sincerely,

Rosetta Stephens

Appendix B: Demographic Questionnaire

Study Pseudonym:
Sex: (M/F)
Age:
Race:
Level of highest education completed:

Appendix C: Focus Group Protocol

- 1. Research indicates that social support is essential to the academic success of young mothers. What strategies do you use to foster social support to help young mothers?
- 2. A major educational barrier that young mothers face relates to access to childcare.
 What support strategies do you use to help young mothers access childcare needed to enable them to return to high school?
- 3. Young mothers often struggle financially. Financial support to help ensure basic needs are met is an essential strategy for helping young mothers complete their education. What support strategies do you use to help young mothers access the financial resources they need?
- 4. Another factor that plays a role in the academic persistence of young mothers is student-teacher relationships. Research indicates that encouragement from teachers, especially, can foster academic persistence within supportive student-teacher relationships. What strategies do you use to help foster healthy relationships between young mothers and their teachers?

- 5. Home visitation can help to improve academic persistence among young mothers.

 Please describe any ways you use home visitation to help young mothers continue
- 6. Having high expectations of young mothers' academic success may improve their academic persistence. Please describe any ways you exercise high academic expectations of young mothers to help them continue their education.
- 7. Please discuss any other social support strategies, not already mentioned, that you feel are helpful for improving the academic persistence of young mothers.

Follow up: How do you employ these strategies?

their education.